

Impact of Simulation and Settings Upon Student Attitudes Towards Older Adults

Submitted to the Faculty of the College of Health Sciences University of Indianapolis

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Health Science By: Rebecca A. Smith, OTR/L

> Copyright © April 20, 2023 By: Rebecca A. Smith, OTR/L All rights reserved

> > Approved by:

Lisa Borrero, PhD, FAGHE Committee Chair

Elizabeth S. Moore, PhD Committee Member

Ann Stauche, MSN, RN, CHSE Committee Member

Accepted by:

Laura Santurri, PhD, MPH, CPH Director, DHSc Program Chair, Interprofessional Health & Aging Studies University of Indianapolis

Stephanie Kelly, PT, PhD Dean, College of Health Sciences University of Indianapolis

# Impact of Simulation and Settings Upon Student Attitudes Towards Older Adults

Rebecca A. Smith

Interprofessional Health and Aging Studies, University of Indianapolis

#### Abstract

Background: In educational programs, ageist biases and attitudes of healthcare students are prevalent and have been addressed through various methods, including simulation-based learning (SBL). Limited research has explored the impact of simulation on ageist biases and attitudes of occupational therapy assistant (OTA) and physical therapist assistant (PTA) students. Furthermore, there is no research comparing the setting of SBL with a standardized patient (SP) on ageist attitudes of healthcare students. Purpose: The purpose of this study was to examine the impact of a simulation setting with an older adult SP for OTA and PTA students on their attitudes toward older adults. Method: 26 OTA and PTA students were recruited from a small community college. The quasi-experimental counterbalanced design study incorporated a homebased simulation and an acute care-based simulation. The Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA) and the Ambivalent Ageism Scale (AAS) instruments were administered before the SBL experiences and after each simulation. Results: The FSA did not indicate any statistically significant differences in student attitudes from the pre-simulation to the last simulation or between the two different settings. The AAS indicated significant differences between pretest and the last simulation and found significant differences when comparing the pretest to the home-based simulation and acute care-based simulation. Conclusion: This study demonstrates the impact of an SBL experience with an SP, specifically impacting benevolent ageist attitudes, which can guide educators in addressing ageism in healthcare students and promoting positive attitudes towards older adults through SBL experiences.

Keywords: ageism, healthcare student, older adult, simulation-based learning

# Acknowledgments

John Maxwell once said, "You're only as good as the people you have around you." This labor of love has truly been a journey that could not have been seen to the end without those who have been holding me up throughout these years.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the many people who have provided support in various ways throughout this process. To Dr. Borrero, Dr. Moore, and Ann Stauche, thank you for your time, patience, flexibility, and unwavering support throughout this time. To Cheryl and Pat, thank you for your heart for students and your flexibility throughout this process. To Christen, Marlene, Allison, Angela, and Misty, thank you for coming alongside me and being my "hands" in tenuous circumstances. To McHenry County College, thank you for allowing me to use the facilities and supporting the pursuit to improve upon my learning and teaching endeavors.

To my sons, Hunter and Rylan, never ever stop being curious about the world around you. Learning never ends! To my parents, Chris and Mindy, from an early age you placed in me a desire to continue to grow. Thank you for instilling a growth mindset and a strong work ethic.

Finally, I dedicate this manuscript to my late husband, Rob, who fully embraced my desire to pursue my graduate degrees and supported me in countless ways to help me see this through. You never hesitated or questioned my academic goals. This was another marathon of love for us, and although you couldn't see this to the end, I know you have been by my side throughout.

3

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	. 2
Acknowledgments	. 3
Table of Contents	. 4
List of Tables	. 6
Impact of Simulation and Settings Upon Student Attitudes Towards Older Adults	. 7
Problem Statement	. 8
Purpose Statement	. 8
Research Question	. 9
Research Objectives	. 9
Significance of the Study	. 9
Literature Review	10
Determinants of Ageism	11
Factors Related to Ageist Attitudes in Healthcare Students	12
Addressing Ageism in Education	14
Simulation-Based Learning	17
Standardized Patient	21
Method	22
Study Design	22
Participants	23
Setting	23
Data	24
Instruments	24
Procedures	26
Statistical Analysis	30
Results	32
Demographics	32
Overall Student Attitudes	32
Setting of Simulation	34
Knowledge of Aging FAQ-2	35
Discussion	35

# SIMULATION AND STUDENT ATTITUDES

Student Attitudes Toward Older Adults	
Setting of the Simulation's Impact on Attitudes	
Limitations	
Implications and Future Research	39
Conclusion	41
References	
Figure 1	60
Appendix A	61
Appendix B	62
Appendix C	64
Appendix D	65
Appendix E	67
Appendix F	68
Appendix G	72

# List of Tables

Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	

# Impact of Simulation and Settings Upon Student Attitudes Towards Older Adults

The overall population of the United States is aging rapidly. The number of individuals 65 years and older has experienced a 36% population increase from 2009 to 2019 (Administration on Aging [AoA], 2021). In addition, it is expected there will be 80.8 million older adults in the United States by 2040, doubling the number of older adults as of 2019 (AoA, 2021). The significant demographic shift of the older adult population requires a responsive healthcare system able to provide the appropriate medical care for this group (Fulmer et al., 2021).

Ageism has far-reaching implications regarding the healthcare of older adults worldwide, frequently leading to communication errors and detrimental health outcomes including overtreatment and under-treatment (Ben-Harush et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2020; Heyman et al., 2020; Ouchida & Lachs, 2015). In the United States alone, age discrimination, negative age stereotypes, and negative perceptions of aging contribute to an estimated \$63 billion in healthcare expenditure every year (Levy et al., 2020). In addition, ageist beliefs and attitudes are noted across various healthcare student populations including students within medicine (Ben-Harush et al, 2017; Lucchetti et al., 2017), nursing (Ben-Harush et al. 2017; Meriç et al., 2019; Rababa et al., 2020a), physical therapy (Blackwood & Sweet, 2016), speech and language (Heape et al., 2020) and occupational therapy (Friedman & VanPuymbrouck, 2021) fields.

Various methods have been employed in the healthcare educational setting to address student beliefs, attitudes, and stereotypes of older adults. These methods include workshops, lectures, service-learning experiences, aging simulation experiences, gamification, community interaction, and simulation-based learning (Ross et al., 2018). A systematic review of the literature indicates educational methods that combine both a formal knowledge component with an experiential aspect were most effective in changing healthcare students' attitudes toward older adults (Chonody, 2015). Simulation-based learning (SBL), which provides a hands-on experience whereby students can apply their clinical judgment and problem-solving skills, has been utilized successfully throughout medical and nursing education (Herge et al., 2013; Rutherford-Hemming et al., 2019).

# **Problem Statement**

Due to the significant expected population shift, healthcare must be responsive to the growing need of this demographic, including examining the impact of ageist attitudes on healthcare provision. Future healthcare students must be adequately prepared to work with older adults, including being advocates for this population to provide appropriate and adequate healthcare services. As such, educational programs must include effective methods to challenge the ageist beliefs and attitudes of the healthcare student. SBL has been identified as one effective method for students to garner clinical experience (Braude et al., 2015; Mehdi et al., 2014; Williams & Song, 2016), increase confidence (Alanazi et al. 2017), encourage interprofessional teamwork (Bethea et al., 2019), and improve communication with older adults (Skinner, 2017). Although the literature heavily explores these areas, there is a lack of literature on the efficacy of SBL relating to student attitudes and beliefs regarding older adults. In addition, research around simulations that have involved older adults and scenarios has focused mainly on frailty, end-of-life planning, dementia, incontinence, and acute illness (Mehdi et al., 2014), which may reinforce negative student attitudes and beliefs.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this study was to examine the impact of a simulation setting on occupational therapy assistant (OTA) and physical therapist assistant (PTA) students' attitudes

toward older adults. More specifically, it explored differences in student attitudes between working with a standardized patient within an acute care SBL setting and a standardized patient in a home-based SBL setting.

# **Research Question**

To address the study purpose, the following research question was answered: What is the difference in OTA and PTA student attitudes towards older adults when participating in an acute care simulated setting as compared to a home-based simulated setting?

#### **Research Objectives**

The following objectives were met to answer the study research question.

- To determine if simulation-based learning experiences with an older adult standardized patient impact OTA and PTA student attitudes towards the older adult population, measured by the Ambivalent Ageism Scale and the Fraboni Scale of Ageism.
- To explore the differences in attitudes of OTA and PTA students when participating in an acute care simulation as compared to a home-based simulation as measured by the Ambivalent Ageism Scale and the Fraboni Scale of Ageism.

# Significance of the Study

Ageist attitudes, stereotypes, and biases are prevalent in healthcare students (Blackwood & Sweet, 2016; Friedman & VanPuymbrouck, 2021; Heape et al., 2020; Lucchetti et al., 2017; Rababa et al., 2020b). Healthcare educators have a responsibility to address these attitudes throughout the curriculum to facilitate healthy views of the older adult as students prepare for clinical practice. This study explored the gaps in the literature regarding the efficacy of SBL in addressing OTA and PTA student attitudes toward the older adult and the impact of the SBL setting in reinforcing or challenging student attitudes. Results from this study can inform

healthcare educators in designing SBL experiences that reduce ageist attitudes and beliefs of students in preparation for working with older adults.

#### **Literature Review**

Older adults experience a lower quality of healthcare and provision of services from the healthcare systems in the United States as compared to younger Americans, resulting in an increased risk for over-treatment, under-treatment, and miscommunication (Ouchida & Lachs, 2015). Although there are several root causes, the lack of an adequately prepared healthcare workforce is a significant contributor to this systemic issue (Ouchida & Lachs, 2015; Rowe et al., 2016). Specifically, a shortage of healthcare workers trained in geriatrics is impacting care for an increasing population of older adults (Ouchida & Lachs, 2015; Rowe et al., 2016). In addition to an ill-prepared workforce, research has established the significant impact of ageism and age discrimination among healthcare workers, contributing to healthcare disparities for older adults and resulting in poorer health outcomes compared to younger counterparts (Chang et al., 2020; Ouchida & Lachs, 2015).

Ageism is a term that describes the attitudes and behaviors toward others or oneself that are influenced by stereotypes, prejudices, and discrimination based on age (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). Ageism can take on many forms. It can be implicit or explicit, it can be hostile or benevolent, and it can be self-imposed or systemic (WHO, 2021). In a systematic review of 422 studies globally, it was revealed that ageism impacted the health outcomes of older adults in 95.5% of the studies reviewed (Chang et al., 2020). Outcomes most commonly impacted by ageism included: exclusion from health research, devaluing of an older adult, denied access to healthcare and treatments, reduced longevity, poor quality of life, poor social relationships, and increased physical and mental illness (Chang et al., 2020). Older adults are frequently excluded from research trials, although many of the trials may impact older adults more often than younger participants (Chang et al., 2020). Withholding treatments from patients due to age or dismissing physical or cognitive changes as expected as a person ages can result in under-treatment or misdiagnosis of the older adult (Chang et al., 2020; Ouchida & Lachs, 2015). Contrary to undertreatment, older adults are at risk for over-treatment, which can include recommendations of specific tests and scans only based on the patient's age or recommending procedures or surgeries without considering the comorbidities or contexts surrounding the patient (Ouchida & Lachs, 2016). Clear communication regarding older adults' goals and preferences is critical for making sound medical decisions, yet healthcare providers have been shown to be less patient, less responsive, and more patronizing with older adults as compared to younger patients (Ouchida & Lachs, 2016).

Although researchers recognize the impact of the current disparity across healthcare providers and systems, it is crucial to consider how ageism and age discrimination have roots in healthcare education and training. Healthcare students, specifically students in medicine, occupational therapy, physical therapy, nursing, physician assistant, and pharmacy, exhibit implicit or explicit negative attitudes and biases toward older adults (Friedman & VanPuymbrouck, 2021; Gallo, 2019; Jester et al., 2020).

#### **Determinants of Ageism**

Around the age of four, children begin to assimilate societal and cultural cues toward age stereotypes, which continue to be reinforced over time (WHO, 2021). Recent systematic reviews have sought out the determinants associated with ageism, identifying factors relating to ageist attitudes across adult participants globally. Factors that attributed to higher levels of ageism were anxiety towards aging, fear of death, younger age, and having negative exposure to older adults (Marques et al., 2020). In addition, being male and less educated also correlated with higher levels of ageism (Officer et al., 2020). On the contrary, factors associated with lower levels of ageism included individuals with specific personality types such as conscientiousness, agreeableness, and extraversion, quality of contact with older adults, including relatives, and positive experiences with older adults (Marques et al., 2020). Lastly, cultural belief systems play a role in ageism and ageist beliefs. More recently, the literature indicates that eastern cultures tend to have more negative attitudes toward aging as compared to western cultures (North & Fiske, 2015; Officer et al., 2020). Increased population aging rate can result in conflicts over resource management and cultures that view older adults as unique individuals instead of a collective group can account for cultural beliefs towards aging (North & Fiske, 2015). As a result, although cultures may highly respect older adults, ageist beliefs can still permeate throughout a culture.

#### **Factors Related to Ageist Attitudes in Healthcare Students**

Several demographic factors have also been researched to establish correlations with ageist attitudes and biases, specifically among healthcare students. As a person ages, it is hypothesized that they will become more accepting of the aging process; however, the relationship between students' age to their attitudes towards ageism is inconclusive (Cooney et al., 2021). In some studies, student age has been shown to positively relate to improved attitudes toward older adults as older students tend to have more positive attitudes as compared to younger students (Cooney et al., 2021; De Biasio et al., 2016; Gallo, 2019; Jackson et al., 2017). Yet, additional research indicates no significant difference between attitudes and student age (Fernandez et al., 2018). The relationship between the gender of a student and attitudes toward aging is also inconclusive, as some research demonstrated more negative attitudes among male

students as compared to females (Allué-Sierra et al., 2023; De Biasio et al., 2016; Jackson et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017) and others did not demonstrate a significant difference (Jester et al., 2020; Rababa et al., 2020a; Urgulu et al., 2019).

Several interpersonal factors relate to student attitudes toward older adults. Prior experiences and the quality of close relationships with older adults positively correlate with more favorable attitudes toward aging in healthcare students (Allué-Sierra et al., 2023; Blackwood & Sweet, 2017; Cooney et al., 2021; Jackson et al., 2017; Jester et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2017). The quality of experiences and interactions with older adults is more impactful on attitudes, as compared to the number of experiences (Allué-Sierra et al., 2023; Cooney et al., 2021; Jackson et al., 2017). In addition, the context in which these interactions take place is important. Students who have lived with older adults or had more positive personal or clinical experiences with older adults tend to have less ageist attitudes as compared to those who had more negative experiences (Allué-Sierra et al., 2023; Blackwood & Sweet, 2017; Cooney et al., 2021; Smith et al., 2017). These positive experiences are expected to provide students with opportunities to disrupt their biases and stereotypes towards aging, resulting in improved attitudes (Cooney et al., 2021).

Lastly, a person's self-directed perceptions and knowledge of the aging process can shape a student's attitude toward aging. That is, healthcare students who view their own aging process with great acceptance tend to have diminished ageist attitudes as compared to those who are fearful or uncertain about aging (Cooney et al., 2021; Jackson et al., 2017). This positive view of the student's own life and aging course influences how they view older adults and their aging process. Additionally, a student's knowledge of aging has been positively correlated with improved attitudes toward older adults (Cooney et al., 2021; Rababa et al., 2020a; Rababa et al., 2020b), supporting the integration of coursework in health sciences that address knowledge of the aging process to affect student attitudes (McCloskey et al., 2020).

In the United States, there are approximately 7,500 board-certified geriatricians and less than 1% of registered nurses who have geriatric certification, despite national efforts to increase this number to support the rapidly growing older adult population (Rowe et al., 2016). Although much of this is due to financial aspects such as lower reimbursement for Medicare recipients, research has noted that stereotypes and biases also significantly influence current healthcare professionals' interest in working with older adults (Ouchida & Lachs, 2015; Rowe et al., 2016). The influence of attitudes and biases toward interest in working with the older adult population is also evident in healthcare student populations. Research demonstrates a strong relationship between students' positive attitudes and increased knowledge of aging to an increased desire to work with older adults (Even-Zohar & Werner, 2020; Jackson et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2017). Factors contributing to this relationship include experiences with older adults and a high sense of self-confidence in caring for older adults (Lee et al., 2017). The literature mostly supports the idea that knowledge of aging increases the desire to work with the older adult population (Even-Zohar & Werner, 2020; Horowitz et al., 2017). Obhi & Woodhead, 2016).

#### **Addressing Ageism in Education**

To address the shortage of providers who currently treat the older adult population, educational programs have recognized the need to address ageism in students. Various means and methods to address ageism have included traditional didactic courses, service-learning experiences, workshops, clinical experiences, aging empathy suits, gamification, empathy skills training, reflective journaling, and simulation (Burnes et al., 2019; Chonody, 2015; Gallo, 2019). Addressing students' knowledge of aging is one way to address ageism in students (Even-Zohar & Werner, 2020; Jackson et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2017). Pedagogical methods to improve or alter knowledge typically include traditional instructional formats such as workshops and courses specifically focused on the unique needs of older adults through education on normal aging, conditions, and addressing stereotypes (Burnes et al., 2019; Chonody, 2015). Although instructional classroom interventions can improve student attitudes toward aging, research has demonstrated increased effectiveness when instructional-based pedagogy is coupled with an experiential aspect (Burnes et al., 2019; Chonody, 2015). More specifically, curricula in which experiences involve empathy-building activities have shown more significant results in changing student attitudes (DeBiasio et al., 2015; Samra et al., 2013). Examples of these types of experiences that develop empathy in students are encounters with older adults through mentorships, interviews, clinical rotations, or simulated aging experiences (Samra et al., 2013).

Although experiences with older adults mostly have an overall positive effect on students' attitudes toward older adults, the literature cautions instructors to consider the importance of environmental and personal contexts surrounding the experiences with older adults. The importance of context has been demonstrated through a few studies, which have shown student attitudes across several different healthcare fields worsen over the course of their education (DeBiasio et al., 2015; Jester et al., 2020) or after a two-week medical internship in geriatric settings (Kusumastuti et al., 2017). To be noted, students across these studies were exposed to experiences with older adults who required acute medical needs. On the contrary, students exposed to positive experiences and community-dwelling older adults demonstrated decreased ageist beliefs (Cadieux et al., 2019; McCloskey et al., 2020; Meric et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2018). These studies highlight the importance of considering the context surrounding the

encounters students have with older adults as students who participate in experiences with community-dwelling older adults made significant positive changes in student attitudes as compared to students who only had contact with frail older adults (Ross et al., 2018).

Not only do well-designed curricular aspects improve attitudes toward aging, but healthcare students have also noted how views on age from faculty, clinical instructors, and other healthcare professionals have negatively or positively influenced their own perceptions of age through the overt and subtle language used by these individuals during their coursework, clinical placements, and work experiences (Blackwood & Sweet, 2017; Dahlke et al., 2020). One study indicated that 47% of medical and nursing students have witnessed ageism from other healthcare providers to older adults while on clinical rotations (Dobrowolska et al., 2019).

## Theoretical Foundations in Education

As educators seek to address student attitudes through curricular and pedagogical means, there are theoretical approaches that may assist to guide curricular development related to changing and influencing student attitudes. Transformative learning theory is described as transforming prior information, mindsets, and assumptions to new information and perspectives; therefore, shifting an individual's prior assumptions (Mezirow, 2007). This approach focuses on the process of challenging and changing fixed belief systems, established perspectives, stereotypes, and biases through intentional learning experiences and reflection (Lucchetti et al., 2017; Van Schalkwyk, et al. 2019). Intentional learning experiences including service-learning, mentorship, simulations with debriefing, or various forms of self-reflection are all successful ways to integrate transformative learning into various healthcare educational programs, resulting in students embracing broader worldviews, influencing attitudes, new interpretations, and a heightened awareness of others (Van Schalkwyk et al., 2019).

The constructivist framework is an active learning method that supports the need for an experiential component that can effectively influence student attitudes toward ageism (Burnes et al., 2019; Chonody, 2015). The constructivist framework focuses on how students construct knowledge, based on problem-solving, through realistic and complex situations (Niederriter et al., 2020). This framework provides hands-on, immersive experiences in which students develop meaning and understanding, within a realistic context (Niederriter et al., 2020).

Lastly, the influence of learning from peers and instructors must also be considered in educational and clinical settings. Social learning theory describes how a learner's behaviors can be affected or changed through the observation of others or interaction (Bandura, 1971). Classmates and instructors can influence the behaviors or attitudes of healthcare students. The literature has demonstrated the impact of social learning theory as students have formulated new positive or negative attitudinal behaviors via observation of their instructors and clinical supervisors (Dahlke et al., 2020; Dobrowolska et al., 2019). Thus, educators and clinical instructors must be mindful of their own implicit and explicit biases regarding their own attitudes towards aging as demonstrated to students.

# **Simulation-Based Learning**

Simulation-based learning (SBL) is one form of experiential learning, which also incorporates transformative learning theory, the constructivist framework, and social learning theory. SBL is defined as "an educational strategy in which a particular set of conditions are created or replicated to resemble authentic situations that are possible in real life" (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, p. S44). SBL can provide the means to link the cognitive domain of learning, such as theories and knowledge, to psychomotor domains in practice, all within the context of critical thinking skills (Eide et al., 2019; Koukourikos et al., 2021). SBL can take

# SIMULATION AND STUDENT ATTITUDES

place through various means, such as a written case study, video of a patient, role-playing, standardized patient, manikin, part-task trainer, or virtual reality (Bennett et al., 2017; Grant et al., 2021; Koukourikos et al., 2021). SBL also provides a safe environment to practice various competencies without harm to a real patient (Koukourikos et al., 2021; Mehdi et al., 2014).

There are several overarching benefits to integrating SBL into healthcare education programs. Not only is simulation well-received by healthcare students (Grant et al., 2021; Niederriter et al., 2019; Walls et al, 2019), but simulation has been shown to effectively improve clinical knowledge, critical thinking, and skill refinement (Alanazi et al., 2017; Davis & Nye, 2017; Eide et al., 2020). SBL can be utilized to build and remediate specific clinical skills or competencies in isolation, such as catheter placement, colostomy care, transfer training, or assessing vitals. Beyond basic skill development and refinement, SBL can introduce students to complex scenarios which are developed to build students' critical thinking skills (Kourkourkios et al., 2021).

Additionally, positive professional identity (Bethea et al., 2019; Grant et al., 2021) and overall student confidence (Imms et al., 2019; Kourkourikos et al., 2021; Pritchard et al., 2016) are strengthened through simulation experiences. Student confidence in managing specific scenarios they may encounter as a practitioner is significantly improved (Mehdi et al., 2014). In one study, students expressed a realization of the level of their knowledge and expressed a sense of improved confidence in applying their content knowledge through SBL experiences (Skinner, 2017).

Simulation also effectively provides significant opportunities for students to improve communication with patients and teams (Grant et al., 2021; Imms et al., 2019; Kourkouikos et al., 2021; Negri et al., 2017). SBL experiences with role-playing or standardized patients are

highly effective to develop communication skills in healthcare students, especially in navigating conflicts, discussing ethical concerns, and communicating sensitive or difficult news to a client or caregiver (Negri et al., 2017).

Lastly, simulation is an effective means to strengthen and build interprofessional team skills across medical professions (Bethea et al., 2019; Koukourikos et al., 2021). SBL is used to facilitate the process of interprofessional collaboration, understand the various team members' roles, and encourage client-centered care (Grant et al., 2021). Increased opportunities for interprofessional education collaboration are a focus of both occupational therapy and physical therapy accreditation guidelines as of recent and can provide an avenue for interprofessional collaboration in the educational setting (Bethea et al., 2019).

#### Simulated-Based Learning in Geriatrics

SBL has been used specifically within the context of geriatric training for healthcare students. Many of the same benefits derived from general SBL experiences are also captured within geriatric-based simulations, including increased self-confidence to care for the older adult (Braude et al., 2015; Mehdi et al., 2014), improved knowledge and perceptions of geriatric healthcare (Fisher and Walker, 2013), and improved knowledge of chronic health conditions for the older adult (Torkshavand et al., 2020).

Specific scenarios used in SBL for the older adult have included continence care, elder abuse, dementia care, end-of-life issues, fall management, acute illness, delirium, and interprofessional management (Braude et al., 2015; Fisher & Walker, 2013; Mehdi et al., 2014). Although these topics are appropriate for the acute care settings many healthcare students will practice in, there is limited literature regarding SBL experiences in community-based practice settings for the older adult. Only one study was located, a smaller mixed-methods study of 21 students, who completed a simulation in a home-based scenario (Skinner, 2017). Results indicated improved perceptions of older adults through qualitative means but no significant difference regarding students' knowledge of aging (Skinner, 2017).

Although SBL experiences incorporating geriatric care have been used as an effective experiential component in healthcare educational programs, there are inherent and unique challenges. SBL experiences must have a level of realism or fidelity which includes an accurate portrayal of the client, with the student being fully immersed in the situation (Cowperthwait, 2020; Siew et al, 2021). This requires designing an SBL in which the experience closely resembles real life, which can be challenging to achieve when attempting to create scenarios that are meant to present the clients holistically. Manikins and partial task simulators can be effective for training a technical clinical skill, yet do not provide the contextual, emotional, cognitive, or communicative aspects of client care with an older adult (Koukourikos et al., 2021). In role-play or standardized participant simulation-based experiences, many studies included students, faculty, or live actors who are portraying the role of the client (Bethea et al., 2019; Grant et al., 2021; Pritchard et al., 2016). Utilizing younger students, faculty, or live actors who are attempting to portray a client in an SBL experience may also provide an unrealistic representation of an older adult. Yet, incorporating older adults into SBL can present some additional factors to consider such as actual physical, cognitive, and sensory considerations an older adult may present with, such as decreased activity tolerance due to cardiovascular changes and hearing or vision changes (Smith et al., 2021). Therefore, the development of SBL may require additional collaboration and support for the participants which may be considered an additional barrier (Smith et al., 2021).

20

# **Standardized Patient**

Effective SBL experiences require fidelity and realism, which can be difficult to attain as a simulation is an attempt to replicate a real scenario (Cowperthwait, 2020; Koukourikos et al., 2021). Integration of a standardized patient (SP) into a simulation is one way to increase the fidelity of an SBL experience and is one of the most common methods of providing SBL, especially within areas of improving student communication, confidence, and physical examination skills (Alanazi et al., 2017; Herge et al., 2013; Negri et al., 2017).

The terms standardized patient, simulated patient, and simulated participant have been used in the literature interchangeably; however, the International Nursing Association of Clinical and Simulation Learning (INACSL) Standards Committee (2016) uses the term standardized patient (SP) as the universal term and was used throughout this study as it encapsulates the broad range in which an SP works and allows for individuality for patient-based care (Nestel et al., 2018). An SP is a person who is "trained to consistently portray a patient or other individual in a scripted scenario for the purposes of instruction, practice, or evaluation" (INACSL Standards Committee, 2016, S45). Although any person can act as the patient, best practice indicates the integration of an SP who closely matches the patient's physical characteristics to maintain simulation fidelity, including age (Cowperthwait, 2020; Lewis et al., 2017). This provides students with an experience with an older adult, bringing perspective regarding the aging experience and navigating the healthcare system (Davis & Nye, 2017; Thompson et al., 2017).

Literature supports higher student satisfaction when completing an SBL experience with an SP as compared to a manikin most likely due to the impact of realism when working with a live person (Lucktar-Flude et al., 2012; Pritchard et al., 2016). Overall, the use of an SP during SBL experiences has demonstrated positive outcomes in the development of technical, nontechnical, and cognitive skills of students (Williams & Song, 2016). Substituting up to 25% of clinical experiences with simulation with an SP in the physical therapy curriculum has shown a difference in student preparation as compared to the typical clinical placement (Pritchard et al., 2016), demonstrating the strength of SP-based simulations on building capacity for healthcare students. Specifically, within geriatric-based simulations, a study by Siew et al. (2020) reviewed 15 articles and noted significant improvements in students' knowledge of aging, clinical skills, technical and non-technical skills, confidence, and interprofessional teamwork. There are limited studies that include an SP and address student attitudes and perceptions toward older adults as one of their outcomes. Skinner (2017) found improved student perceptions toward older adults in a qualitative study. The use of an SP has also been noted to improve empathy among nursing students (Arrogante et al., 2022). However, no studies have quantitatively addressed students' ageist attitudes toward older adults as a primary outcome of an SBL experience that included an SP. There is a need for research in this area, addressing the confluence of experiential and transformational learning through SBL experiences and addressing healthcare students' attitudes toward the older adult, including the impact of the setting context on student attitudes.

#### Method

# **Study Design**

This quasi-experimental study incorporated a counterbalanced design to determine if the setting of a simulation with a simulated older adult participant impacted the attitudes of occupational therapy assistant (OTA) and physical therapist assistant (PTA) students toward older adults. The counterbalanced study design was utilized to decrease the threat of participants applying prior learning (Cottrell & McKenzie, 2011) as half the participants participated in an

acute care simulated setting first while the other half started in a home-based simulated setting (see Figure 1).

# **Participants**

A non-probability convenience sample of students in the OTA and PTA programs at McHenry County College was recruited for this study. One cohort of students participated in the study during the summer of 2022 and the second cohort of students participated in the fall of 2022. Participants in the study met the following inclusionary criteria: (a) current student in the McHenry County College OTA or PTA program, (b) enrolled in the didactic portion of their studies, and (c) not currently in the final semester of clinical or fieldwork.

An a priori sample size estimate was calculated using G\*Power, version 3.1 (Faul et al., 2007). As the data were not normally distributed, sample size estimates were calculated based on the Friedman's ANOVA to determine differences within the assessment times. The following parameters were selected for the calculation based on clinical judgment and Cohen's (1992) recommendations: significance level alpha of .05, power of 0.80, a moderate effect size of f = 0.25, correlation among representative measures of 0.5, and a non-sphericity correction of 1. Based on the calculation, a minimum sample size of 28 was needed to adequately power the study.

# Setting

The study took place at McHenry County College (MCC), a small community college located in northern Illinois. The health care division at MCC is equipped with a simulated hospital and simulated apartment. The simulated hospital setting consists of three patient suites, two control rooms, and one debriefing room. Observation of the simulations in the hospital can be completed through either the control rooms or the installed video system. The simulated apartment setting contains a bedroom, bathroom, living room, and kitchen, which can be observed from an installed video system.

### Data

Data were collected using Qualtrics, a web-based survey software program. Demographic data collected in this study included age (years), sex (male, female, other), and race/ethnicity (Asian or Pacific Islander, Black or African American, Hispanic or Latinx, Native American or Alaskan Native, White or Caucasian, Multiracial or Biracial, or Other). In addition, the following student background information was collected: discipline (OTA, PTA), semester enrolled (1, 2, 3), types of experience with older adults (family, paid work, volunteer, leisure activities, educational settings, no experience), and quality of experiences with older adults (very good, good, acceptable, poor, very poor, no experience).

For the purpose of the study, an older adult was defined as a person who is 65 years or older, to coincide with the definition of older adults on the instrumentation utilized in this study (Fraboni et al., 1990). Attitudes toward older adults were operationalized using scores from the Fraboni Ageism Scale (FAS) and the Ambivalent Ageism Scale (AAS). Palmore's Facts on Aging Quiz 2 (FAQ-2) was used before the intervention to assess the participants' knowledge of aging.

#### Instruments

# Ambivalent Ageism Scale

The AAS captures the benevolent and hostile attitudes toward older adults (Cary et al., 2017). The inclusion of benevolent attitudes makes the AAS unique from other assessments (Cary et al., 2017; Kang, 2022). There are 13 statements in which participants note their level of agreement, utilizing a seven-point Likert scale with scores ranging from 13-91. An overall

summed score is obtained, in which lower scores indicate more positive attitudes toward older adults. Test-retest reliability performed at two weeks resulted in an r = .80 and an internal consistency of  $\alpha = .91$  (Cary et al., 2017). There is no information on the responsiveness of this instrument at the time of this study. Permission was obtained from Dr. Alison Chasteen to utilize this instrument for the study (See Appendix C). A copy of the instrument is located in Appendix D.

# Fraboni Scale of Ageism

The FSA measures the affective component of ageism and consists of 29 statements in which a four-point Likert scale is utilized indicating responses from strongly disagree to strongly agree to each statement (Fraboni et al., 1990). A summed score (29-116) is obtained with higher levels of ageism indicated by higher overall scores. The instrument measures antagonistic and discriminatory attitudes and beliefs (Rupp et al., 2005). Statements are aligned to avoidance, antilocution, and discrimination levels of prejudice as defined by Allport (1958, as cited in Fraboni et al. 1990). Whole scale internal consistency reliability is  $\alpha = .86$  (Fraboni et al., 1990). Factor analysis performed on the FSA revealed three factors, stereotypes, separation, and affective attitudes (Rupp et al., 2005). The stereotypes factor is also defined as antilocution, a type of prejudice in which someone verbalizes negative comments about a group but not directly to the group or individual it is intended for, whereas the separation factor refers to the active avoidance of the intended person or group (Rupp et al., 2005). Lastly, the affective factor indicates the emotional responses and attitudes toward the group (Rupp et al., 2005). Internal consistency among the three factors of stereotypes, separation, and affective attitudes are  $\alpha =$ .79, .76, and .70 respectively (Rupp et al., 2005). Intercorrelations between the FSA and the subscales of the Aging Semantic Scale are  $\alpha = .77, .79, .78,$  and .79, demonstrating adequate

convergent validity (Rupp et al., 2005). There is no literature regarding test-retest reliability or responsiveness to change at the time of this study. The FSA also demonstrates convergent validity to the Attitudes Towards Old People Scale,  $\alpha = .86$  (Rupp et al., 2005). Permission has been obtained from Dr. Maryann Fraboni and Dr. Robert Saltstone to utilize this instrument for the study (See Appendix A). A copy of the instrument is located in Appendix B.

# Palmore Facts on Aging Quiz-2

The FAQ was initially developed as a true/false questionnaire which was revised (FAQ-2) and then later reformatted into multiple-choice questions to increase the accuracy of the instrument and to reduce the likelihood of participants making educated guesses between true and false (Harris & Changas, 2005). The FAQ-2 consists of 25 multiple-choice questions which are scored by summing the total number of correct responses, with higher scores indicating increased knowledge (Harris & Changas, 2005). Internal consistency of the revised FAQ-2 is  $\alpha$  = .36 (Harris & Changas, 2005). At the time of this study, there is no information on test-retest reliability or responsiveness to change. Permission was obtained from Dr. Paul Changas to use this instrument for the study (See Appendix E). A copy of the instrument is located in Appendix F.

# Procedures

# Recruitment

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained from the University of Indianapolis, along with a letter of cooperation from McHenry County College prior to recruitment. Since participants were students at the institution where the primary researcher (R. S.) is employed, and the OTA students have had courses and would have future courses with the primary researcher, the risk of a power differential was considered. Due to the risk of the perception of coercion or undue influence from the power differential, participants were considered a vulnerable population (Manti & Licari, 2018; Office for Human Research Protections, n.d.). To reduce the risk, recruitment took place at the end of the class time or during a break, which allowed students to leave the classroom if not interested, and on a day the author did not teach a course with the potential participants to further reduce the association between the primary researcher and instructor of the OTA students.

A faculty member of the PTA program was the primary recruiter for the OTA students and the author was the primary recruiter for the PTA students. Potential participants were notified about the study through signage in the students' respective classrooms and the learning management system approximately one week before the meeting took place. This announcement invited them to stay after class to learn about the study. Two recruitment meetings were scheduled at a time when students were on campus. One meeting was with the OTA students and one with the PTA students, along with an in-person follow-up a few days later. These meetings took place immediately after their class on that day and in their respective classrooms. The recruiters utilized a script to reference so that all students were provided with the same information including the purpose of study, location, and time requirements. In addition, the script specifically stated that participation or lack of participation would not impact grades or result in preferential selection for fieldwork or clinical placements.

# **Informed Consent**

At the time of the recruitment meeting, participants were provided an initial written informed consent document for their review. The document included an explanation of the study, indicating voluntary and confidential participation, duration and time commitment, and risks and benefits of participation. The document explicitly stated that study participation would not impact course grades or give preference for clinical or fieldwork placements, participation would be completely voluntary, and participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any time. Students were given one week to decide whether or not to participate in the study and submit their signed informed consent to their primary recruiter if they agreed to participate. The study began approximately two weeks after informed consent was obtained from the participants. Throughout the study, participants continued to provide their informed consent at each data collection point.

#### Randomization

Once participants provided consent, they were randomly placed into one of two groups, Group A (acute care simulation first then the home-based simulation) and Group B (home-based simulation followed by the acute care simulation. The creation of groups A and B was to adhere to the counterbalance design of the study and demographic comparisons. Simple randomization was performed by assigning each participant a number. These numbers were inserted into <u>www.randomlists.com</u>, a computer-based random team generator, to create two separate groups.

# Data Collection

Each participant created their own unique identifier which was used throughout the study in an attempt to maintain confidentiality. In a pure counterbalance design, assessment is only taken after each intervention (Cottrell & McKenzie, 2011). However, since one research question asks if the simulations with an older adult (intervention) altered overall ageist attitudes, a pretest was conducted. Another research question asks if there is a difference in attitudes based on the simulation setting. Therefore, posttests after each simulation were obtained. To decrease the threat to internal validity through retesting the three assessment points for the AAS and FSA were spaced approximately four weeks apart. Four weeks before the first simulation, participants completed the first data collection point, providing demographics, background, the FAQ-2, the AAS, and the FSA via a Qualtrics survey. The second and third data collection points occurred within a half hour of completing the simulation, which included completing the AAS and FSA. Typically, students within the healthcare programs at this community college participate in an immediate verbal debrief with the instructor and standardized patient. Therefore, to decrease the possibility of additional communication after the completion of the simulation scenario, which could impact their perceptions or attitudes, and to best standardize the study, the debriefing session was completed with a PTA or OTA instructor. The debriefing session followed a script of five questions which maintained the focus only on the provision of care and clinical reasoning skills.

# Intervention

There were two simulation interventions for each participant. Each intervention was completed with a standardized patient who was an older adult trained by the primary researcher on how to portray the selected case for the simulation. There were two standardized patients, a retired nurse and a retired occupational therapist, who had a history of working with students in educational and clinical settings and were two years apart in age. Provision of scripts and training before the simulation provided for increased fidelity of the simulations. Approximately four days before each simulation, participants received occupational therapy and physical therapy evaluations with the plan of care and goals (see Appendix G), and additional resources regarding the client's diagnosis. The evaluations provided students with a continuum of goals which allowed students of all skill levels to ensure their ability to utilize interventions that match their developing skill sets, despite if they were in their first, second, or third didactic semester.

On the day of the simulation, participants entered the simulations and completed a 20- to 30minute treatment session.

The acute care simulation portrayed an older adult who had chronic obstructive respiratory disease (COPD) and required moderate assistance and relied on a support system. It took place in a simulated hospital room while utilizing a nasal cannula for oxygen. The homebased simulation was completed in a mock apartment with the other standardized patient. This case consisted of an older adult with COPD who was mainly independent, uses a nasal cannula and condenser for oxygen, and required a home assessment and follow-up treatment session for safety.

# Data Management

Pretest and posttest data were matched by the student-created unique study identifier. Data were downloaded from Qualtrics and entered into a password-protected Microsoft Excel spreadsheet by the primary researcher after the last data collection period. The primary researcher's password-protected personal computer was used for data storage. Printouts of the data spreadsheets were stored in a locked cabinet in a locked room and will remain there for three years after the study's completion. At that time, paper documents or printouts will be destroyed through a paper shredding service.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize participant demographics and status, including age, sex, race/ethnicity, student discipline of study, semester enrolled in the program, and quality and types of experiences with older adults. In addition, descriptive statistics were used to present outcome data, the FAQ-2, AAS, and FSA scores. Nominal data are reported as frequencies and percentages; medians and interquartile ranges for ordinal and non-normally distributed interval and ratio data; means and standard deviations for normally distributed interval and ratio data.

Pre-simulation, Simulation 1, and Simulation 2 outcome data were compared using Friedman ANOVA tests since the data were not normally distributed. Assumptions for a Friedman ANOVA include (a) dependent groups (b) repeated measure of dependent variable three or more times (c) ordinal, interval, or ratio data (c) not normal distribution among groups, and (d) no expected interactions between participant and treatment (Kellar & Kelvin, 2013). When a significant difference was found within the three times, post hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests with Bonferroni correction were conducted.

The AAS and the FSA do not have a published minimal detectable change or a score that indicates clinical relevance; therefore, Cohen's *d* with a value of 0.50 was used to signify a moderate effect for the Friedman's ANOVA and Wilcoxon signed-rank test (Van den Berg, n.d.). Effect sizes were calculated based on the equations provided by Fields (2018) and the effect sizes were interpreted based on the recommendations of Cohen (1992).

The relationship between knowledge of aging as measured by the FAQ-2 and the AAS and FSA scores was also explored by using a Spearman Rho correlation test. Assumptions for the Spearman Rho test include (a) ordinal, interval, or ratio data (b) two variables of interest (c) the two variables are independent of each other, and (d) the participants are an independent random sample (Kellar & Kelvin, 2013). A correlation coefficient (r) between .50 to .70 was used to indicate a moderate correlation (Moore et al., 2013).

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The normality of data was determined using Shapiro-Wilk tests, as

well as visual inspection of histograms and Q-Q plots. All comparisons were two-tailed and a significance level of less than .05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

# **Demographics**

Initially, 30 participants enrolled in the study; however, four did not complete surveys in all three time periods. Therefore, the data for these students were excluded from the analysis, resulting in a final sample size of 26. Due to the randomization of the assignment groups at the start of the study to maintain the counterbalance design, there were 12 (46%) participants in Group A and 14 (54%) participants in Group B. Most of the participants were OTA students (N = 17, 65%) while 9 (35%) were PTA students and the majority were female (N = 23, 88%). The participants' median age (interquartile range) was 34.38 (18.00) years and the semester (1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd,</sup> or 3<sup>rd</sup> semester) the participants were enrolled in was 2.23 (1.00). Detailed demographics and participant status information are displayed in Table 1.

# **Overall Student Attitudes**

To address the first objective of the study, a Friedman ANOVA test was used to determine if there was a difference in AAS and FSA scores over the three time periods. The results of the comparisons are found in Table 2. The median AAS score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 27.50 (16.00), 28.50 (13.00) after the first simulation, and 25.50 (18.00) after the second simulation. The Friedman ANOVA,  $X^2(2, N = 26) = 15.74$ , p < .001 indicated there was a statistical difference in attitudinal scores across the three measures at an alpha .05 level. The overall effect size was large (d = 1.01). The pairwise post hoc analyses with the Wilcoxon signed-ranks test and Bonferroni correction at an adjusted alpha significance of .017 were used to analyze the differences between the pairs. The median difference between the pre-

simulation and the last simulation (Simulation 2) was 2.00 and the Wilcoxon signed-ranks test reported a p = .003 indicating a statistical difference. There was no statistical difference between the other pairs.

The median FSA score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 97.00 (11.00), 98.00 (16.00) after the first simulation, and 100.00 (16.00) after the last simulation. Data from the FSA was analyzed using a Friedman ANOVA test as data were not normally distributed. The Friedman ANOVA,  $X^2(2, N = 26) = 3.08$ , p = .214 indicated that there was no significant statistical difference between scores; however, the effect size is moderate (d = 0.41).

The three factors of the FSA, stereotypes, separation, and affective attitudes were also analyzed (see Table 2). The data were not normally distributed; therefore, the Friedman ANOVA test was used. The median stereotype score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 31.50 (5.00), 3.50 (6.00) after the first simulation, and 33.00 (9.00) after the last simulation. The Friedman ANOVA,  $X^2(2, N = 26) = 4.79$ , p = .091 indicated no significant statistical difference; however, a moderate effect size was noted (d = 0.51). The median separation score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 29.50 (3.00), 30.00 (5.00) after the first simulation, and 29.50 (4.00) after the last simulation. The Friedman ANOVA,  $X^2(2, N = 26) = 0.28$ , p = .870 indicated no significant statistical difference. The median affective score (interquartile range) for presimulation was 17.00 (3.00), 17.00 (3.00) after the first simulation, and 17.50 (3.00) after the last simulation. The Friedman ANOVA,  $X^2(2, N = 26) = 4.82$ , p = .090 indicates no statistical significant difference; however, there is a moderate effect (d = 0.51).

# **Setting of Simulation**

To address the second objective of the study, data were reorganized into settings to explore student attitudes based on the setting of the simulation. Differences between the presimulation and the two settings were analyzed.

# Acute Care Setting

The Wilcoxon signed-ranks test was used to determine if there was a difference in scores for the AAS over the two times, pre-simulation and post-acute care simulation as data were not normally distributed. The median AAS score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 27.50 (16.00) and 26.00 (17.00) after the acute care simulation. The Wilcoxon signed-ranks test Z = -2.03, p = .042 indicated there was a statistical difference in attitudinal scores between the pre-simulation AAS scores and post-acute care simulation AAS scores at an alpha .05 level. There is a moderate effect size (d = 0.59).

To analyze the difference between the FSA scores, a Wilcoxon signed-ranks test was used as data were not normally distributed. The pre-simulation median FSA scores (interquartile range) were 97.00 (11.00) at pre-simulation and 99.00 (14.00) post-acute care simulation. The Wilcoxon signed-ranks test Z = -0.14, p = .886 indicated no statistical difference at a .05 alpha level. Additionally, the FSA factors of stereotypes, separation, and affective were analyzed between pre-simulation and post-acute care simulations, and no significant statistical differences were found (see Table 3).

#### Home-Based Setting

Wilcoxon signed-ranks test was also used to analyze differences between the presimulation and post-home-based simulation setting as data were not normally distributed. The median AAS score (interquartile range) for the pre-simulation was 27.50 (16.00) and 29.00 (16.00) after the home-based simulation. The Wilcoxon signed-ranks test Z = -3.14, p = .002 indicated there was a statistical difference in attitudinal scores between the pre-simulation AAS scores and post-acute care simulation AAS scores at an alpha .05 level. There is a large effect size (d = 0.97).

The attitudes of students were also measured by the FSA. The median FSA scores for the pre-simulation were 97.00 (11.00) and 99.50 (17.00) for the post-home-based simulation. The Wilcoxon signed-ranks test Z = -1.05, p = .296 indicated no statistical difference at a .05 alpha level. The FSA factors related to stereotypes, separation, and affective were examined before and after the home-based simulations, and no statistically significant differences were detected (see Table 2).

# **Knowledge of Aging FAQ-2**

Participant knowledge of aging was assessed by the FAQ-2. Scores of the FAQ-2 were analyzed as a whole group to explore the relationship between knowledge of aging scores and scores on the FSA and AAS. The median FSA score (interquartile range) for the group was 9.50 (3). The bivariate Spearman correlation was r(26) = -.15, p = .465 for the FSA, and r(26) = -.03, p = .885 for the AAS. This indicates the relationships between knowledge of aging and attitudes towards aging among participants in this study were weak and not statically significant.

#### Discussion

This study's purpose was to address two objectives: (a) to determine if simulation-based learning experiences with an older adult standardized patient impact OTA and PTA student attitudes towards the older adult population, measured by FSA, and the AAS and (b) to explore the relationship between attitudes of OTA and PTA students when participating in an acute care simulation as compared to a home-based simulation as measured by the FSA, and the AAS. The
findings from this study were that there was no change in attitudes as measured by the FSA; however, positive changes in overall attitudes were indicated as measured by the AAS.

#### **Student Attitudes Toward Older Adults**

The use of an SP during SBL experiences increases student satisfaction with learning (Lucktar-Flude et al., 2012; Pritchard et al., 2016); improves clinical care (Pritchard et al., 2016; Williams & Song, 2016), and increases empathy (Arrogante et al., 2022). There is a lack of current research on the impact of SBL with an SP on ageist attitudes of students, including a lack of research on SBL with OTA and PTA students. This study explored whether or not there was a significant difference in OTA and PTA student attitudes toward older adults as measured by two instruments, the FSA and the AAS. Although the two instruments are moderately correlated (r = .51-.71) and have good consistency (r = .08) (Kang, 2022), they yielded different results in this study, regarding the significance of an overall change in student attitudes toward older adults.

Student attitudes towards older adults, as measured by the FSA in this study, were not impacted significantly after participating in a simulation with an older adult as an SP. Ageism is multifaceted and can take on many forms. The FSA was specifically designed to measure the antagonistic or hostile aspects of ageism (Rupp et al., 2005); therefore, the FSA reflects more of the participants' negative attitudes toward older adults. While there is no specific score on the FSA to determine the degree of ageist beliefs, higher scores indicate increased levels of ageism. In this study, the three factors of the FSA, stereotypes, separation, and affective attitudes, also did not yield any significant findings between pre-simulation and post-simulation experiences.

Although the FSA did not reveal a significant difference in attitudes between pre- and post-simulation experiences, the AAS did show a significant difference in attitudes after

simulation experiences with an older adult as the SP. In contrast to the FSA, the AAS evaluates both benevolent and hostile ageism attitudes, with a larger focus on benevolent attitudes which includes 9 benevolent and 4 hostile statements (Cary et al., 2016). Although there is no cut-off score to determine if responses are ageist, lower summed scores of the AAS indicate lower ageist attitudes (Cary et al., 2017). This study suggests that the overall simulation experience, which included two simulations with a standardized patient, had a greater effect on improving benevolent ageist attitudes towards older adults than hostile attitudes, as suggested by the significant difference in AAS scores.

Experiences and exposure to older adults within an educational curriculum have been shown through multiple studies to increase empathy and general student attitudes toward older adults (Arrogante et al., 2022; DeBiasio et al., 2015; Samra et al., 2013). This study further demonstrates the impact of an SBL experience, specifically suggesting a significant impact in altering benevolent ageist attitudes of OTA and PTA students.

#### Setting of the Simulation's Impact on Attitudes

The context surrounding a student's experience with older adults can impact their attitudes, specifically when a student is working with a community-dwelling older adult as compared to a frail older adult (Ross et al., 2018). There is a paucity of research that compares the impact of different settings on student attitudes. Therefore, the study's second objective was to explore the effect of a specific simulation setting on participants' attitudes.

The findings from the FSA did not indicate any significant statistical differences between pre-simulation and the acute care setting or pre-simulation and the home-based setting. Again, there were no significant differences found within the three factors of stereotype, separation, and affective. These results suggest that the simulation setting did not influence changes in participants' antagonistic ageist beliefs or hostile attitudes.

However, the results of the AAS demonstrated a statistically significant difference in attitudes of OTA and PTA students when comparing pre-simulation scores to post-home-based-simulation and pre-simulation to post-acute care simulation scores. Although both settings demonstrated statistically significant differences in attitudes, it should be noted there was an improvement in attitudes following the acute-care simulation and a worsening of attitudes after the home-based simulation. There was a moderate effect size between pre-simulation to post-home-based simulation as compared to a small effect size between pre-simulation to post-acute care simulation. There were no significant statistical findings regarding the sequence of the simulations upon the attitudinal scores for both the FSA and AAS.

Cooney et al. (2021) noted that a relationship between student age and attitudes toward older adults has been inconclusive; however, several studies have found a relationship between older student age and more positive attitudes (De Biasio et al., 2016; Gallo, 2019; Jackson et al., 2017). Although this study did not uncover any correlations between age and scores on the FSA or AAS, it should be noted that the instruments used in this study were initially validated on a younger group of participants. The participants in the FSA had a mean age of 22.15 and 22.6 (Rupp et al., 2005) and the AAS mean age was 18.91 and 26.9 (Cary et al., 2016). Whereas the mean age of the participants in this study was 34.38 years of age.

#### Limitations

Primary limitations for this study included the use of a convenience sample of students within a single college and two educational programs which may not be representative of all OTA and PTA students or educational programs. Additionally, the sample size of the study was

38

small, which could limit the statistical power or reproducibility of the findings. Data from the participants may also demonstrate a response shift bias as participants rated themselves lower at the pretest for both the FSA and AAS as compared to the data point after simulation 1. Lastly, while the diversity of the participants was similar to that of the OTA and PTA educational programs from which they were recruited, it may not be representative of the larger population of therapy students.

#### **Implications and Future Research**

The predominant body of research on SBL focuses on older adult scenarios addressing end-of-life issues, fall management, acute illness, dementia, elder abuse, and other situations which portray a frail older adult (Braude et al., 2015; Fisher & Walker, 2013; Mehdi et al., 2014). Furthermore, current research on SBL experiences with an SP as an older adult has primarily focused on clinical and technical skills, the confidence of the student, and interprofessional teamwork (Siew et al., 2020). This study addresses a gap in the literature regarding the effect of SBL with an SP on students' attitudes toward older adults. In addition, there is no published research on the experiences of OTA and PTA students with SBL with an SP. This study also attempted to explore these gaps in the literature regarding the setting of simulation on the ageist attitudes of students through the means of SBL with an SP.

Ageism is multifactoral and can take on many forms, two forms being hostile or benevolent (WHO, 2021). The FSA is an instrument that measures hostile or antagonistic attitudes and this study did not find a statistically significant difference in attitudes as measured by the FSA. However, the AAS measures benevolent attitudes which this study did find significant differences over time, both improving and worsening attitudes. Benevolent ageism has also been termed as compassionate ageism in the literature and has also been recognized more since the recent pandemic (Vervaecke & Meisner, 2021). Benevolent attitudes can be described as patronizing behaviors or overaccommodation and have been explored throughout research with sexism (Cary et al., 2016, Chasteen et al., 2021, Sublett et al., 2021). More recently it has been explored regarding ageism. Benevolent ageism can be towards someone or a group of people and tends to be quite subtle, which is the opposite of direct, hostile ageism (Chasteen et al., 2021). Studies have indicated that benevolent attitudes are generally more accepted across society and gender which can make it difficult to confront (Chasteen et al., 2021, Sublett et al., 2021). Confronting benevolent ageism can be complex as one study noted that strong confrontation regarding benevolent acts increased more negative attitudes toward an older adult (Chasteen et al., 2021).

Benevolent ageism can appear in healthcare in a multitude of ways. For therapy providers, this may arise through communication with older adult clients where the provider is using elderspeak, where a clinician is assuming the client requires slow and simplified language (Shaw & Gordon, 2021). Another form of benevolent ageism can also include a healthcare team who is assuming a patient requires more services or medical equipment to remain safe in their home based solely on the patient's age and regardless of their competence or motivations (Vervaecke & Meisner, 2021). Clinicians need to recognize how the impact of benevolent ageism in therapy decisions can contribute to learned helplessness (Vervaecke & Meisner, 2021), which conflicts with most therapy goals of increased independence. This study begins to provide needed research to explore how to impact future healthcare providers' benevolent attitudes toward aging.

Future research is needed to further explore the overall impact of SBL on ageism and attitudes of healthcare students, including the various forms of ageism. The WHO identifies

educational interventions as one of the three strategies to reduce ageism on a global level (2021). This research can help educators to better understand and analyze how their creation of different types of SBL experiences. In addition, educators may also consider the setting, or context, of SBL experiences on the effectiveness to reduce ageism and promote more positive attitudes among healthcare students. This can ensure that future healthcare professionals are equipped with more positive attitudes toward their future patients who are older adults, leading to improved higher-quality care. It is also imperative to conduct additional research on the impact of SBL experiences with older adult SPs regarding differences in the impact on hostile and benevolent attitudes. This can enable healthcare educators to create targeted interventions that are effective in addressing ageism in healthcare students and promoting positive attitudes toward older adults.

#### Conclusion

Ageism is a pervasive issue in healthcare and society, and reducing ageism is crucial for improving the quality of care provided to older adults. Educational programs have utilized various methods to address ageism through didactical and experiential methods leading to positive outcomes and results, demonstrating effectiveness in reducing ageism among healthcare students (Burnes et al., 2019; Chonody, 2015; Gallo, 2019). Research has also indicated the importance of students having positive experiences with older adults in the community and how the context, or setting, can contribute to reducing ageist attitudes in healthcare students (Cadieux et al., 2019; McCloskey et al., 2020; Meric et al., 2019; Ross et al., 2018). The best practice in educational programs is to integrate didactic and experiential components to foster attitude changes among students (DiBiasio et al., 2015; Samra et al., 2013). SBL experiences with an

older adult as an SP is an effective intervention for students to gain experience before entering the healthcare field.

This study found that while there were no significant changes in antagonistic or hostile ageist attitudes as measured by the FSA, there were significant impacts in benevolent ageist attitudes as measured by the AAS, dependent upon the context of the simulation or over the course of the full simulation experience. These findings suggest that SBL experiences with an SP can have an impact on altering benevolent ageist attitudes toward older adults.

Addressing ageism in healthcare is not only an ethical imperative but also critical to improving health outcomes and enhancing the well-being of older adults. Educators should continue to prioritize experiential learning opportunities and exposure to older adults within educational curriculums to challenge future healthcare professionals' attitudes towards older adults.

#### References

Administration on Aging. (2021). 2020 profile of older Americans. <u>https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/2020Profi</u> <u>leOlderAmericans.Final.pdf</u>

Alanazi, A. A., Nicholson, N., & Thomas, S. (2017). The use of simulation training to improve knowledge, skills, and confidence among healthcare students: A systematic review. *Internet Journal of Allied Health Sciences and Practice*, 15(3), Article 2.

https://doi.org/10.1037/t69112-000

Allué-Sierra, L, Antón-Solanas, I., Rodriguez-Roca, B., Anguas-Gracia, A., Echániz-Serrano, E., Fernández-Rodrigo, M. T., Navas-Ferrer, C., Subirón-Valera, A. B., Urcola-Pardo, F., & Satústegui-Dordá, P. J. (2023). Ageism and nursing students, past or reality?: A systematic review. *Nurse Education Today, 122,* Article 105739.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2023.105739

Arrogante, O., Velarde-Garcia, J. F., Blazquez-Gonzalez, P., & Moro-Tejedor, M.N. (2022). The effects of high-fidelity simulation training on empathy and attitudes toward older people among undergraduate nursing students: A quasi-experimental study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 64, Article 103441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2022.103441</u>

Bandura, A. (1971). *Social learning theory*. General Learning Press. http://www.asecib.ase.ro/mps/Bandura\_SocialLearningTheory.pdf

Ben-Harush, A., Shiovitz-Ezra, S., Doron, I., Alon, S., Leibovitz, A., Golander, H., Haron, Y., & Ayalon, L. (2017). Ageism among physicians, nurses, and social workers: Findings from a qualitative study. *European Journal of Ageing: Social, Behavioural and Health Perspectives*, 14(1), 39–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-016-0389-9</u>

- Bennett, S., Rodger, S., Fitzgerald, C., & Gibson, L. (2017). Simulation in occupational therapy curricula: A literature review. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 64(4), 314-327. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12372
- Bethea, D. P., Smith, N., Allison, L. K., Bell, C. S., Collins, M. E., Migliarese, S. J., & Darby, R. (2019). Live standardized patient scenario improves attitudes toward and readiness for interprofessional education in occupational therapy and physical therapy students. *Journal of Allied Health*, 48(2), 81-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2016.70s1-po6073</u>
- Blackwood, J., & Sweet, C. (2016). The influence of ageism, experience, and relationships with older adults on physical therapy students' perception of geriatrics. *Gerontology and Geriatrics Education*, 38(2), 219-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2015.1079709</u>
- Braude, P., Reedy, G., Dasgupta, D., Dimmock, V., Jaye, P., & Birns, J. (2015). Evaluation of a simulation training programme for geriatric medicine. *Age and Ageing*, 44(4), 677-682. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afv049
- Burnes, D., Sheppard, C., Henderson Jr, C. R., Wassel, M., Cope, R., Barber, C., & Pillemer, K. (2019). Interventions to reduce ageism against older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, *109*(8), e1-e9.
  https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2019.305123
- Cadieux, J., Chasteen, A. L., & Packer, PhD, D. J. (2019). Intergenerational contact predicts attitudes toward older adults through inclusion of the outgroup in the self. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 74(4), 575-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbx176</u>
- Cary, L. A., Chasteen, A. L., & Remedios, J. (2016). The ambivalent ageism scale: Developing and validating a scale to measure benevolent and hostile ageism. *The Gerontologist*, 57(2), e27-e36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw118</u>

- Chang, E. S., Kannoth, S., Levy, S., Wang, S. Y., Lee, J. E., & Levy, B. R. (2020). Global reach of ageism on older persons' health: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 15(1), Article e0220857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220857</u>
- Chasteen, A. L., Horhota, M., Crumley-Branyon, J. J., & Haseley, E. (2021). Unwanted help: Accepting versus declining ageist behavior affects impressions of older adults. *Psychology* and Aging, 36(6), 700-709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000620</u>
- Chonody, J. M. (2015). Addressing ageism in students: A systematic review of the pedagogical intervention literature. *Educational Gerontology*, 41(12), 859-887. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2015.1059139
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative methods in psychology: A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155-159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155</u>
- Cooney, C., Minahan, J., & Siedlecki, K. L. (2021). Do feelings and knowledge about aging predict ageism?. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 40(1), 28-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464819897526</u>
- Cottrell, R. R. & McKenzie, J. F. (2011). *Health promotion and education research methods: Using the five-chapter thesis/dissertation model* (2nd ed.). Jones and Bartlett.

Cowperthwait, A. (2020). NLN/Jeffries simulation framework for simulated participant methodology. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 42, 12-21.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2019.12.009

Dahlke, S., Davidson, S., Kalogirou, M. R., Swoboda, N. L., Hunter, K. F., Fox, M. T., Pollard, C., Baumbusch, J., & Salyers, V. (2020). Nursing faculty and students' perspectives of how students learn to work with older people. *Nurse Education Today*, *93*, Article 104537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104537

- Davis, K. D., & Nye, C. (2017). Care of the older adult with postoperative delirium: An interprofessional simulation for undergraduate nursing students. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 38(2), 103-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nep.000000000000105</u>
- De Biasio, J. C., Parkas, V., & Soriano, R. P. (2016). Longitudinal assessment of medical student attitudes toward older people. *Medical Teacher*, *38*(8), 823–828.

https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2015.1112891

Dobrowolska, B., Jędrzejkiewicz, B., Pilewska-Kozak, A., Zarzycka, D., Ślusarska, B., Deluga, A., Kościołek, A., & Palese, A. (2019). Age discrimination in healthcare institutions perceived by seniors and students. *Nursing Ethics*, 26(2), 443–459.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017718392

- Eide, W. M., Johansson, L., & Eide, L. S. (2020). First-year nursing students' experiences of simulation involving care of older patients: A descriptive and exploratory study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 45, Article 102797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102797</u>
- Even-Zohar, A., & Werner, S. (2020). The effect of educational interventions on willingness to work with older adults: A comparison of students of social work and health professions.
   *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 63(1-2), 114-132.
   https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2020.1712511
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146</u>
- Fernández, E. A., Castro, J. L., Aguayo, I. H., González, D. A., & Martínez, E. P. (2018). Ageism at university: A comparative analysis of young and older adult

students. Educational Gerontology, 44(11), 679-692.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2018.1526456

Fields, A. (2018). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (5th ed.). Sage.

- Fisher, J. M. & Walker, R. W. (2013). A new age approach to an age old problem: Using simulation to teach geriatric medicine to medical students. *Age and Ageing*, 43(3), 424-428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/aft200</u>
- Fraboni, M., Saltstone, R., & Hughes, S. (1990). The Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA): An attempt at a more precise measure of ageism. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 9(1), 56-66. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/s0714980800016093">https://doi.org/10.1017/s0714980800016093</a>
- Friedman, C., & VanPuymbrouck, L. (2021). Ageism and ableism: Unrecognized biases in occupational therapy students. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, *39*(4), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02703181.2021.1880531</u>
- Fulmer, T., Reuben, D. B., Auerbach, J., Fick, D. M., Galambos, C., & Johnson, K. S. (2021). Actualizing better health and health care for older adults. *Health Affairs*, 40(2), 219-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01470</u>
- Gallo, V. (2019). Ageism in nursing education: A review of the literature. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *14*(3), 208-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2019.04.004</u>
- Grant, T., Thomas, Y., Gossman, P., & Berragan, L. (2021). The use of simulation in occupational therapy education: A scoping review. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 68, 345-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12726</u>
- Harris, D. K., & Changas, P. S. (1994). Revision of Palmore's second facts on aging quiz from a true-false to a multiple-choice format. *Educational Gerontology*, 2(8), 741-754. https://doi.org/10.1080/0360127940200802

- Heape, A., Causey, B., Lloyd, T., & Jeter, S. (2020). Ageism among graduate students in communication sciences and disorders: A longitudinal analysis. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 5(5), 1306–1312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2020\_PERSP-20-00062</u>
- Herge, E. A., Lorch, A., DeAngelis, T., Vause-Earland, T., Mollo, K., & Zapletal, A. (2013). The standardized patient encounter: A dynamic educational approach to enhance students' clinical healthcare skills. *Journal of Allied Health*, 42(4), 229–235.
- Heyman, N., Osman, I., & Natan, M. B. (2020). Ageist attitudes among healthcare professionals and older patients in a geriatric rehabilitation facility and their association with patients' satisfaction with care. *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, 15(2), Article e12307. https://doi.org/10.1111/opn.12307
- Horowitz, B. P., Tagliarino, J., & Look, K. (2014). Occupational therapy education, attitudes on aging, and occupational therapy students and therapists interest in gerontology practice. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, 32(2), 136-151.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.319/02703181.2014.905898">https://doi.org/10.319/02703181.2014.905898</a>
- Imms, C., Froude, E., Chu, E. M. Y., Sheppard, L., Darzins, S., Guinea, S., Gospodarevskaya, E., Carter, R., Symmons, M. A., Penman, M., Nicola-Richmond, K., Gilbert Hunt, S., Gribble, N., Ashby, S., & Mathieu, E. (2018). Simulated versus traditional occupational therapy placements: A randomised controlled trial. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 65(6), 556-564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12513</u>
- INACSL Standards Committee. (2016). INACSL standards of best practice: Simulation glossary. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *12*, S39-S47. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.09.012</u>
- Jackson, J., Clark, A., Pearse, L., Miller, E. A., Stanfield, H., & Cunningham, C. J. L. (2017). Explaining student interest and confidence in providing care for older adults: The role of

demographics and life experiences. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *43*(3), 13–18. https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20160901-04

- Jester, D. J., Hyer, K., Wenders, A., & Andel, R. (2020). Attitudes toward aging of health professions students: Implications for geriatrics education. *Gerontology and Geriatrics Education*, 42(4), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2020.1835657</u>
- Kang, H. (2022). Scales for measuring ageism as experienced by older adults: Literature review and methodological critique. *Frontiers in Education*, 7, Article 739436. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.739436</u>
- Kellar, S. P., & Kelvin, E. A. (2013). *Munro's statistical methods for health care research* (6th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.
- Koukourikos, K., Tsaloglidou, A., Kourkouta, L., Papathanasiou, I. V., Iliadis, C., Fratzana, A., & Panagiotou, A. (2021). Simulation in clinical nursing education. *Acta Informatica Medica*, 29(1), 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.5455/aim.2021.29.15-20</u>
- Kusumastuti, S., van Fenema, E., Polman-van Stratum, E. C., Achterberg, W., Lindenberg, J., & Westendorp, R. G. (2017). When contact is not enough: Affecting first year medical students' image towards older persons. *PloS One*, *12*(1), Article e0169977. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169977
- Lee, J., Garfin, D. R., Vaughn, S., & Lee, Y. S. (2018). Factors associated with gerontological career choice: The role of curriculum type and students' attitudes. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 8(4), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v8n4p1</u>
- Levy, B. R., Slade, M. D., Chang, E. S., Kannoth, S., & Wang, S. Y. (2020). Ageism amplifies cost and prevalence of health conditions. *The Gerontologist*, 60(1), 174-181. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny131

- Lewis, K. L., Bohnert, C. A., Gammon, W. L., Hölzer, H., Lyman, L., Smith, C., ... & Gliva-McConvey, G. (2017). The association of standardized patient educators (ASPE) standards of best practice (SOBP). *Advances in Simulation*, 2(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41077-</u> 017-0043-4
- Lucchetti, A. L. G., Lucchetti, G., de Oliveira, I. N., Moreira-Almeida, A., & da Silva Ezequiel,
  O. (2017). Experiencing aging or demystifying myths? Impact of different "geriatrics and gerontology" teaching strategies in first year medical students. *BMC Medical Education*, *17*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-017-0872-9
- Luctkar-Flude, M., Wilson-Keates, B., & Larocque, M. (2012). Evaluating high-fidelity human simulators and standardized patients in an undergraduate nursing health assessment course. *Nurse Education Today*, *32*(4), 448-452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2011.04.011
- Manti, S., & Licari, A. (2018). How to obtain informed consent for research. *Breathe*, *14*(2), 145-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.001918</u>
- Marques, S., Mariano, J., Mendonca, J., De Tavernier, W., Hess, M., Naegele, L., Peixeiro, F., & Martins, D. (2020). Determinants of ageism against older adults: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17, Article 2560.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072560
- McCloskey, R., Yetman, L., Stewart, C., Slayter, J., Jarrett, P., McCollum, A., & Stoica, G. (2020). Changes in nursing students' knowledge, attitudes and interest in caring for older adults: A longitudinal cohort study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 44, Article 102760.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102760">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2020.102760</a>

- Mehdi, Z., Roots, A., Ernst, T., Birns, J., Ross, A., Reedy, G., & Jaye, P. (2014). Simulation training for geriatric medicine. *The Clinical Teacher*, *4*, 387-392. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.12156
- Meriç, M., Ergün, G., Pola, G., Dölek, M., Totur Dikmen, B., & Dal Yılmaz, Ü. (2019).
  Relationship between nursing students' attitudes toward elderly discrimination and opinions about home care services. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, *31*(4), 219–223.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822319839365">https://doi.org/10.1177/1084822319839365</a>
- Mezirow, J. (2007). An overview on transformative learning. In J. Crowther & P. Sutherland (Eds.) *Lifelong Learning* (pp. 40-54). Taylor & Francis.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203936207

- Moore, D. S., Notz, W. I., & Flinger, M. A. (2013). *The basic practice of statistics* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Negri, E. C., Mazzo, A., Martins, J. C. A., Pereira, G. A., Almeida, R. G. D. S., & Pedersoli, C. E. (2017). Clinical simulation with dramatization: gains perceived by students and health professionals. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem*, 25, Article e2916. https://doi.org/10.1590/1518-8345.1807.2916
- Nestel, D., McNaughton, N., Smith, C., Schlegel, C., & Tierney, T. (2018). Values and value in simulated participant methodology: A global perspective on contemporary practices. *Medical Teacher*, 40(7), 697-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1472755</u>
- Niederriter, J., Hovland, C., Hazelett, S., Whitford, M., Drost, J., Brown, D., Morgan, A., Kropp,
  D., Sanders, M., Gareri, M., Fosnight, S., Radwany, S., Mcquown, C., & Ahmed, R. (2020).
  Using the constructivist/active learning theoretical framework to develop and test a simulation-based interprofessional geriatric training curriculum. *Journal of*

Interprofessional Education and Practice, 19, Article 100322.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xjep.2020.100322

North, M. S., & Fiske, S. T. (2015). Modern attitudes toward older adults in the aging world: A cross-cultural meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *141*(5), 993-1021.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039469

- Obhi, H. K., & Woodhead, E. L. (2016). Attitudes and experiences with older adults: A case for service learning for undergraduates. *Gerontology and Geriatrics Education*, 37(2), 108-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2015.179704</u>
- Office for Human Research Protections. (n.d.) Informed consent FAQs.

https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/guidance/faq/informed-

consent/index.html#:~:text=The%20HHS%20regulations%20at%2045,the%20IRB%20find
s%20and%20documents

Officer, A., Thiyagarajan, J. A., Schneiders, M. L., Nash, P., & De La Fuente-Nunez, V. (2020).
Ageism, healthy life expectancy and population ageing: How are they related? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(9), Article 3159.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17093159

- Ouchida, K. M., & Lachs, M. S. (2015). Not for doctors only-Ageism in healthcare. *Generations*, 39(3), 46–57. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26556135?seq=1#metadata\_info\_tab\_contents</u>
- Pritchard, S. A., Blackstock, F. C., Nestel, D., & Keating, J. L. (2016). Simulated patients in physical therapy education: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Physical Therapy*, 96(9), 1342-1353. <u>https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20150500</u>
- Rababa, M., Al-Dwaikat, T., & Almomani, M. H. (2020a). Assessing knowledge and ageist attitudes and behaviors toward older adults among undergraduate nursing students.

*Gerontology and Geriatrics Education*, 42(3), 1–16.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2020.1827398

- Rababa, M., Hammouri, A. M., Hweidi, I. M., & Ellis, J. L. (2020b). Association of nurses' level of knowledge and attitudes to ageism toward older adults: Cross-sectional study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 22(3), 593–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12701</u>
- Ross, L., Jennings, P., & Williams, B. (2018). Improving health care student attitudes toward older adults through educational interventions: a systematic review. *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, 39(2), 193-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2016.1267641</u>
- Rowe, J. W., Berman, L., Fried, L., Fulmer, T., Jackson, J, Naylor, M., Novielli, W., Olshansky, J., & Stone, R. (2016). *Preparing for better health and health care for an aging population: A vital direction for health and healthcare*. National Academy of Medicine.
  <u>https://nam.edu/preparing-for-better-health-and-health-care-for-an-aging-population-a-vital-direction-for-health-and-health-care/</u>
- Rupp, D. E., Vodanovich, S. J., & Credé, M. (2005). The multidimensional nature of ageism:
  Construct validity and group differences. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *145*(3), 335-362. https://doi.org/10.3200/socp.145.3.335-362
- Rutherford-Hemming, T., Alfes, C. M., & Breymier, T. L. (2019). A systematic review of the use of standardized patients as a simulation modality in nursing education. *The Research Journal of the National League for Nursing*, *40*(2), 84–90.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NEP.0000000000000401

Samra, R., Griffiths, A., Cox, T., Conroy, S., & Knight, A. (2013). Changes in medical student and doctor attitudes toward older adults after an intervention: A systematic review. *Journal* of the American Geriatrics Society, 61(7), 1188-1196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12312</u>

- Shaw, C. A., & Gordon, J. K. (2021). Understanding elderspeak: An evolutionary concept analysis. Innovation In Aging, 5(3), Article igab023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igab023</u>
- Siew, A. L., Wong, J. W., & Chan, E.-Y. (2021). Effectiveness of simulated patients in geriatric education: A scoping review. *Nurse Education Today*, 100, Article 104856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2021.104856
- Skinner, H. M. (2017). Simulation: Preparing nursing students to work with community-dwelling older adults. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 13(10), 520–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.04.012
- Smith, M. L., Bergeron, C. D., Cowart, C., Ahn, S., Towne Jr, S. D., Ory, M. G., Menn, M. A., & Chaney, J. D. (2017). Factors associated with ageist attitudes among college students. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 17(10), 1698-1706. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12894

<u>maps.//doi.org/10.1111/551.120/1</u>

- Smith, C. M., Sokoloff, L. G., & Alsaba, N. (2021). Collaborative framework for working with older simulated participants (SP). *BMJ Simulation and Technology Enhanced Learning*, 7(2), 112-115. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjstel-2020-000613</u>
- Sublett, J., Vale, M. T., & Bisconti, T. L. (2021). Expanding benevolent ageism: Replicating attitudes of overaccommodation to older men. *Experimental Aging Research*, 48(3), 220-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073x.2021.1968666</u>
- Thompson, J., Tiplady, S., Hutchinson, A., Cook, G., & Harrington, B. (2017). Older people's views and experiences of engagement in standardised patient simulation. *BMJ Simulation and Technology Enhanced Learning*, 3(4), 154-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjstel-2017-000197</u>

- Torkshavand, G., Khatiban, M., & Soltanian, A. R. (2020). Simulation-based learning to enhance students' knowledge and skills in educating older patients. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 42, Article 102678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2019.102678</u>
- Uğurlu, Z., Kav, S., Karahan, A., & Akgün Çıtak, E. (2019). Correlates of ageism among health care professionals working with older adults. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *30*(3), 303-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659618810128</u>
- Van den Berg, R. G. (n.d.). Effect size A quick guide. <u>https://www.spss-tutorials.com/effect-size/</u>
- Van Schalkwyk, S. C., Hafler, J., Brewer, T. F., Maley, M. A., Margolis, C., McNamee, L., Meyer, I., Peluso, M. J., Schmutz, A. M., Spak, J. M., & Davies, D. (2019). Transformative learning as pedagogy for the health professions: A scoping review. *Medical Education*, 53(6), 547–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13804</u>
- Vervaecke, D., & Meisner, B.A. (2021). Caremongering and assumptions of need: The spread of compassionate ageism during COVID-19. The Gerontologist, 61(2), 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnaa131
- Walls, D. J., Fletcher, T. S., & Brown, D. P. (2019). Occupational therapy students' perceived value of simulated learning experiences. *Journal of Allied Health*, 48(1), 21E-25E.
- Williams, B., & Song, J. J. Y. (2016). Are simulated patients effective in facilitating development of clinical competence for healthcare students? A scoping review. *Advances in Simulation*, 1(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41077-016-0006-1</u>
- World Health Organization. (2021). *Global report on ageism*. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240016866

# Table 1

Characteristic	All Participants	Group A ( $n = 12$ )	Group B ( <i>n</i> = 14)		
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)		
Sex					
Female	23 (88.5)	12 (100)	11 (78.6)		
Male	3 (11.5)	0	3 (21.4)		
Race					
White or Caucasian	21 (80.8)	8 (66.7)	13 (92.9)		
Black or African American	1 (.04)	1 (8.3)	0		
Hispanic or Latinx	1 (.04)	0	1 (7.1)		
Asian or Pacific Islander	2 (.08)	2 (16.7)	0		
Multiracial or Biracial	1 (.04)	1 (8.3)	0		
Area of study					
ΟΤΑ	17 (65.4)	10 (83.3)	7 (50.0)		
РТА	9 (34.6)	2 (16.7)	7 (50.0)		
Semester enrolled					
1 <sup>st</sup> Semester	5 (19.2)	2 (16.7)	3 (21.4)		
2 <sup>nd</sup> Semester	10 (38.5)	5 (41.7)	5 (35.7)		
3 <sup>rd</sup> Semester	11 (42.3)	5 (41.7)	6 (42.9)		
Experiences with older adults <sup>a</sup>					
Family	19 (73.1)	9 (75.0)	10 (71.4)		
Paid work	12 (46.2)	3 (25.0)	9 (64.3)		

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (N = 26)

## SIMULATION AND STUDENT ATTITUDES

Characteristic	All Participants	Group A $(n = 12)$	Group B ( <i>n</i> = 14)		
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)		
Leisure activities	4 (15.4)	1 (8.3)	3 (21.4)		
Educational settings	10 (53.8)	5 (41.7)	5 (35.7)		
Quality of experiences					
Very good	7 (26.9)	1 (8.3)	6 (42.9)		
Good	13 (50.0)	8 (66.7)	5 (35.7)		
Acceptable	6 (23.1)	3 (25.0)	3 (21.4)		

*Note.* OTA = Occupational Therapy Assistant Program; PTA = Physical Therapist Assistant

Program; Group A = acute care setting followed by home-based setting; Group B = home-based setting followed by acute care setting.

<sup>a</sup> Participants were able to select multiple options of experiences with older adults; therefore,

percentages will not equal 100%.

# Table 2

	Pre-simulation	Post-Simulation 1	Post-Simulation 2		
	Mdn (IQR)	Mdn (IQR)	Mdn (IQR)	р	ES
AAS	27.50 (16.00)	28.50 (13.00)	25.50 (18.00)	<.001	1.01
FSA	97.00 (11.00)	98.00 (16.00)	100.00 (16.00)	.214	.410
Stereotype	31.50 (5.00)	30.50 (6.00)	33.00 (9.00)	.091	.510
Separation	29.50 (3.00)	30.00 (5.00)	29.50 (4.00)	.870	.012
Affective	17.00 (3.00)	17.00 (3.00)	17.50 (3.00)	.090	.510

Comparison of FSA Factor Scores Across Simulation Experience and Settings (N = 26)

*Note.* AAS = Ambivalent Ageism Scale; FSA = Fraboni Scale of Ageism; Mdn = Median; IQR =

Interquartile range; ES = Effect size

# Table 3

	Pre-	Post-Home			Post-Acute		
	Simulation	Based Setting			Care Setting		
-	Mdn (IQR)	Mdn (IQR)	р	ES	Mdn (IQR)	р	ES
AAS	27.50 (16.00)	29.00 (16.00)	.002	.967	26.00 (17.00)	.042	.588
FSA	97.00 (11.00)	99.50 (17.00)	.296	.293	99.00 (14.00)	.886	.040
Stereotype	31.50 (5.00)	30.50 (8.00)	.088	.486	32.50 (6.00)	.186	.373
Separation	29.50 (3.00)	29.50 (4.00)	.459	.207	30.00 (5.00)	.940	.021
Affective	17.00 (3.00)	17.00 (3.00)	.140	.418	17.00 (3.00)	.360	.256

Comparison of AAS Scores Across Simulation Experience and Settings (N = 26)

*Note*. AAS = Ambivalent Ageism Scale; FSA = Fraboni Scale of Ageism; Mdn = Median; IQR =

Interquartile range; ES = Effect size

## Figure 1

## Counterbalanced Study Design



Note. This figure demonstrates the progression of each group through the simulation experiences. There were approximately four weeks between the pre-simulation assessment, simulation 1, and simulation 2.

#### Appendix A

### Permission from the author for the Fraboni Scale of Ageism

 Dr. Maryann Fraboni
 Sat, Oct 9, 7:07 PM (2 days ago)
 Image: Control of the method of the method

Best,

Dr. Maryann Fraboni 705-303-5585 The International Consortium of Research on Ageism Western University London, Ontario Canada

#### **Appendix B**

#### Fraboni Scale of Ageism

Next to each item, place the number that best describes your answer based on the following scale:

1= strongly disagree

2= disagree

- 3 = agree
- 4= strongly agree
- \* Items are reverse-scored.

1. Teenage suicide is more tragic than suicide among the old.

2. There should be special clubs set aside within sports facilities so that old people can compete at their own level.

3. Many old people are stingy and hoard their money and possessions.

4. Many old people are not interested in making new friends preferring instead the circle of friends they have had for years.

5. Many old people just live in the past.

6. I sometimes avoid eye contact with old people when I see them.

7. I don't like it when old people try to make conversation with me.

\*8. Old people deserve the same rights and freedoms as do other members of our society.

- 9. Complex and interesting conversation cannot be expected from most old people.
- 10. Feeling depressed when around old people is probably a common feeling.

11. Old people should find friends their own age.

\*12. Old people should feel welcome at the social gatherings of young people.

13. I would prefer not to go to an open house at a senior's club, if invited.

- \*14. Old people can be very creative.
- 15. I personally would not want to spend much time with an old person.
- 16. Most old people should not be allowed to renew their driver's licenses.
- 17. Old people don't really need to use our community sports facilities.
- 18. Most old people should not be trusted to take care of infants.
- 19. Many old people are happiest when they are with people their own age.
- 20. It is best that old people live where they won't bother anyone.
- \*21. The company of most old people is quite enjoyable.
- \*22. It is sad to hear about the plight of the old in our society these days.
- \*23. Old people should be encouraged to speak out politically.
- \*24. Most old people are interesting, individualistic people.
- 25. Most old people would be considered to have poor personal hygiene.
- 26. I would prefer not to live with an old person.
- 27. Most old people can be intimidating because they tell the same stories over and over
- 28. Old people complain more than other people do.
- 29. Old people do not need much money to meet their needs.

# Appendix C

## Permission from the author for the AAS



## The Ambivalent Ageism Scale

The Ambivalent Ageism Scale Cary, L. A., Chasteen, A. L., & Remedios, J. (2017). The ambivalent ageism scale: Developing and validating a scale to measure benevolent and hostile ageism. *The Gerontologist*, 57(2), e27-e36.

Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
It is good to tell old people that they are too old to do certain things; otherwise they might get their feelings hurt when they eventually fail. <i>(B)</i>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Even if they want to, old people shouldn't be allowed to work because they have already paid their debt to society. (B)	O	0	0	0	0	0	Ō
Even if they want to, old people shouldn't be allowed to work because they are fragile and may get sick. (B)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
It is good to speak slowly to old people because it may take them a while to understand things that are said to them. (B)	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0
People should shield older adults from sad news because they are easily moved to tears. (B)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Older people need to be protected from the harsh realities of society. <i>(B)</i>	0	0	O	Ō	0	0	0
It is helpful to repeat things to old people because they rarely understand the first time. (B)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Even though they do not ask for help, older people should always be offered help. (B)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0



(B) Benevolent item

(H) Hostile item

Note on scoring: To score the 13-item version of the AAS, calculate the average score across all 13 items. Alternatively, you can split the scale by finding the average score of benevolent- and hostile- items separately.

Note on scale items: Due to the fact that the AAS only contains four hostile items, we recommend using an additional scale in conjunction with the AAS. Please refer to the following paper: Fraboni, M., Saltstone, R., & Hughes, S. (1990). The Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA): An attempt at a more precise measure of ageism. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, **9**, 55–66. doi:10.1017/ S074980800016093

## Appendix E

## Permission from the author for the FAQ-2

Whatever direction you go, I wish you the best in this research and in your program.

Paul

Paul Changas Executive Officer Research, Assessment & Evaluation Metropolitan Nashville Public Schools

#### Appendix F

#### Palmore's Facts on Aging Quiz – Multiple Choice Version

FACTS ON AGING QUIZ (FAQ2)

APPENDIX

#### Palmore's Facts on Aging Quiz (FAQ2) Multiple-Choice Version

- In old age, a person's height:
  - a. does not change
  - b. only appears to change
  - c. tends to decline
    - d. depends on how active one is
- As compared to younger persons, more older persons (65 or over) are limited in their activity by which type of illnesses?
   a. acute illnesses (short-term)
  - b. colds and flu
  - c. infections
- \* d. chronic illnesses
- 3. Which type of illnesses do older persons have less frequently than younger persons?
  - a. chronic illnesses
  - b. colds and flu
  - c. infections
- \* d. acute illnesses
- 4. Compared with younger persons, older persons have:
  - a. more injuries in the home
  - b. have about the same number of injuries in the home
- \* c. have less injuries in the home
  - d. are twice as likely to be injured in the home
- 5. Older workers:
  - a. have higher rates of absenteeism than younger workers
  - b. cannot be depended upon
    - c. have about the same rates of absenteeism as younger workers
- \* d. have lower rates of absenteeism than younger workers
- 6. The life expectancy of African Americans at age 65:
  - a. is higher than that of whites
  - b. is lower than that of whites
- \* c. is the same as that of whites
  - d. has never been determined

751

- Men's life expectancy at age 65 as compared to women's life.
- expectancy:
   a. is lower

752

- b. tends to be returning to what it was in the 1940s
- c. is about the same
- d. is higher
- 8. What percent of medical expenses for the aged does Medicare pay?
- \* a. nearly 50 percent
  - b. nearly 70 percent
  - c. nearly 100 percent
  - d. about 15 to 20 percent
- 9. Social Security benefits:
  - a. automatically increase with inflation
    - b. are not subject to change
    - c. are not adjusted to meet inflation
    - d. are often cut back in times of inflation
- 10. Supplementary Security Income (SSI):
  - a. guarantees a minimum income for the needy elderly
    - b. provides extra income for all the elderly
    - c. supplements the income of the elderly in nursing homes
    - d. pays medical expenses for the elderly
- As far as the aged getting their proportionate share of the nation's income:
  - a. most of the aged live below the poverty level
  - b. the aged are the poorest group in our society
  - c. the aged do get their proportionate share of income
    - d. the income gap between the aged and other adult groups continues to widen
- Compared to persons under 65, rates of criminal victimization among the elderly are:
  - a. higher
  - b. lower

.

- c. much the same
- d. steadily increasing
- 13. Regarding crime and the elderly:
  - a. they are more fearful of crime than are younger persons
    - b. they fear crime the same as other age groups
    - c. they are less fearful of crime than are younger persons
    - d. most elderly persons have no fear of crime

#### FACTS ON AGING QUIZ (FAQ2)

- The most law abiding of all adult age groups are: a. the middle-aged
  - b. persons in their 30s
  - c. young couples
  - \* d. the elderly

a

 Regarding the number of widows and widowers among the aged:

a. their numbers are about equal

- b. their are nearly 5 times as many widows as widowers
  - c. there are about twice as many widowers as widows
  - d. the number of widows is rapidly increasing

16. When it comes to voter participation rates:

- a. the aged seldom vote
- b. those ages 35-44 tend to have higher rates than the elderly
- c. college students have higher rates than do the elderly
- \* d. older people have higher rates than the rest of the population
- 17. In reference to public office:
  - a. there is no relationship between age and public office
  - b. older people are seldom found in public office
  - \* c. there are proportionately more older persons in public office
    - d. there are proportionately more younger persons in public office
- 18. the proportion of African Americans among the aged is:
  - a. growing
    - b. declining
    - c. very small compared with other minority groups
    - d. staying about the same
- 19. Participation in voluntary organizations:
  - a. usually does not decline among healthy older persons
  - b. drops among healthy older persons
  - c. rises among healthy older persons
  - d. is highest among the youth
- 20. The majority of old people live:
  - a. alone

٠

- b. in institutions
- c. with their spouses
  - d. with their children

753

70

- 21. The rate of poverty among the elderly
  - a. is lower than among those under 65
    - b. is higher than among those under 65
    - c. is the same as it is for other age groups
    - d. is high as a result of their having fixed incomes
- 22. The rate of poverty among aged African Americans: a. is less than that of whites
  - b. is about the same as that of whites
  - \* c. is about triple that of older whites
    - d. continues to increase
- Older persons who reduce their activity tend to be: 23. a. happier \*
  - b. not as happy as those who remain active
  - c. more well-adjusted than those who remain active d. healthier
- When the last child leaves home, the majority of parents 24. a. have serious problems of adjustment
  - b. have higher levels of life satisfaction
    - c. try to get their children to come back home
    - d. suffer from the "empty nest" syndrome
- The proportion of the widowed among the aged: 25.
  - a. is gradually decreasing
  - b. is rapidly increasing
  - c. has remained the same in the last half century
  - d. is unrelated to increasing longevity
# Appendix G

# **Acute Care Simulation Evaluations**

# McHenry County College Hospital Occupational Therapy Evaluation

Patient Name:	Alice Smith
Treating Clinician:	Emily Baker, OTR/L
Date of Birth:	6/30/1949
Date and Time:	11/13/2022 1505-1540
Referring Physician	Dr. Bernard Jones

	Patient Information and History
MD Order:	OT evaluation and treatment
Reason for	Client admitted to hospital for increased shortness of breath and weight
Referral:	gain. Patient fell at home on 11/12/2022, stating she became tangled in her
	oxygen tubing as she was walking between the kitchen and the bathroom.
	No fractures per x-rays, however does have bruising over R hip.
Primary	CHF exacerbation
Diagnosis:	COPD exacerbation
Past Medical	Essential tremor
History:	Hypertension
	Ileostomy
Prior Functional	Pt is single, lives a ranch home with 2 steps to enter. Walk-in shower with
Status:	grab bars and tub seat. Comfort-height toilet, no grab bars. Use of O2 at
	home. Patient independent with most ADL and simple IADL at home,
	including bathing and dressing. Patient cooks simple meals on cooktop and
	microwave, manages medications. Family drives her for shopping and
	appointments.
Patient's	"I cannot believe how difficult all of this is right now"
Subjective	
Weight Bearing	FWB BUE and BLE
Status:	
Safety Measures:	Fall Risk
Rehabilitative	Excellent
Prognosis:	
Mental Status/	AXOX4
Cognition:	LTM appears WFL
	STM appears WFL
	Follows 2-3 step direction
	Attention WNL

Vitals:

# BP 132/76, O2 98% @ 4L, HR 71, RR 15

# Performance Skills and Components:Motor & Perceptual Skills:Hand Dominance: R handedGross Motor: RUE WFL; LUE WFLFine Motor: significant tremors impacting FMC bilaterallyBilateral Integration: WFLVisual Motor: WFLPerceptual: WFLUE Sensation: WFLPain: 4/10Site: R hipQuality of Pain: Sore, tender

Range of Motion and Manual Muscle Testing						
	Μ	IMT	AROM			PROM
	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left
Shoulder:						
-Flexion	4/5	3/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Abduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Adduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Internal	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						
-External	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						
Elbow:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Forearm:						
-Supination:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Pronation:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Wrist:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL

# SIMULATION AND STUDENT ATTITUDES

-Ulnar	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Deviation						
-Radial	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Deviation						
Grip	Right	40 lbs	Left	35 lbs		
Strength:						

Current Levels of Function		
Grooming	Minimum Assistance	
UB Bathing	Minimum Assistance	
LB Bathing	Moderate Assistance	
UB Dressing	Minimum Assistance	
LB Dressing	Moderate Assistance	
Toileting	Minimum Assistance	
Toilet Transfer	Minimum Assistance	
Shower Transfer	Unable to assess	
Meal Prep	Unable to assess	
Bed Mobility	Minimum Assistance	
Ambulation	Minimum Assistance with Rolling Walker	

	Assessment:
Skilled analysis	Patient presents with overall generalized weakness and poor activity
of safety or	tolerance with safe completion of ADL and functional mobility. Patient's
Deficit Area or	decreased strength and endurance places her at a high fall risk. Patient
Problems:	demonstrates good motivation and prior level of independence, indicating
	good potential.
	Patient would benefit from skilled OT to address ADL retraining, functional
	mobility training, education and compensatory strategies to increase her
	safety and independence with ADLs and transfers.

Goals:	
1. Patient will safely complete upper body ADL in standing at sink by 11/17/22.	
2. Patient will complete upper body dressing while seated at edge of bed with supervision by	
11/17/22.	
3. Patient will verbalize 3 energy conservation strategies to perform with basic ADL tasks by	
11/16/22.	
4. Patient will perform supine to sitting at edge of bed with supervision by $11/16/22$ .	
5. Patient will independently initiate breathing techniques/strategies when noting shortness of	

breath by 11/17/22.

Plan of Care		
Discharge	SNF vs. Home health pending patient progress	
Recommendations:		
Frequency of	1x daily until transferred to next setting.	
Occupational Therapy:		

## Interventions (CPT Codes): 97166 – OT Evaluation Moderate Complexity

# <u>Emily Baker, OTR/L</u> Therapist Name: Emily Baker, OTR/L

Date and Time: <u>11/13/2022 1505-1540</u>

McHenry County College Hospital
Physical Therapy Evaluation

Patient Name:	Alice Smith
Treating Clinician:	Morgan Adcock, PT
Date of Birth:	6/30/1949
Date and Time:	11/13/22 1245-1320
Referring Physician	Dr. Bernard Jones

Patient Information and History		
MD Order:	PT evaluation and treatment	
Reason for	Client admitted to hospital for increased shortness of breath and weight	
Referral:	gain. Patient fell at home on 11/12/2022, stating she became tangled in her	
	oxygen tubing as she was walking between the kitchen and the bathroom.	
	No fractures per x-rays, however does have bruising over R hip.	
Primary	CHF exacerbation	
Diagnosis:	COPD exacerbation	
Past Medical	Essential tremor	
History:	Hypertension	
	Ileostomy	
Prior Functional	Pt is single, lives a ranch home with 2 steps to enter. Walk-in shower with	
Status:	grab bars and tub seat. Comfort-height toilet, no grab bars. Use of O2 at	
	home. Patient independent with most ADL and simple IADL at home,	

	including bathing and dressing. Patient cooks simple meals on cooktop and
	microwave, manages medications. Family drives her for shopping and
	appointments.
Patient's	"It is so hard to even get out of bed right now."
Subjective	
Weight Bearing	FWB BUE and BLE
Status:	
Safety Measures:	Fall Risk
Rehabilitative	Excellent
Prognosis:	
Mental Status/	AXOX4
Cognition:	LTM appears WFL
	STM appears WFL
	Follows 2-3 step direction
	Attention WNL
Vitals:	BP 132/76, O2 98% @ 4L, HR 71, RR 15

#### **Current Levels of Function** Minimum Assist to bedside commode **Toilet Transfer Bed Mobility** Minimum Assistance Supine to Sit Minimum Assistance Sit to Stand Minimum Assistance Static Sitting Good Dynamic Sitting Good-Static Standing Good-Dynamic Fair+ Standing Ambulation 20 ft with Minimum Assistance level/distance Ambulation RW device Client reports fatigue with basic functional transfers in acute care setting. Comments

Range of Motion and Manual Muscle Testing							
	N	AMT		AROM		PROM	
UE	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	
Shoulder:							
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Abduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Adduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	

-Internal	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						
-External	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						
7.11						
Elbow:			****	****		** ***
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Forearm:						
-Supination:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Pronation:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Wrist:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
	I	MMT		AROM		PROM
LE	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left
Hip:						
-Flexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Abduction	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Adduction	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Knee:						
-Flexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Ankle :						
-Dorsiflexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Plantar	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
flexion						
Comments.		•	•		•	

Assessment:				
Skilled analysis	Patient admitted to hospital due to CHF and COPD exacerbation, resulting in			
of safety or	decreased activity tolerance, decreased balance, and generalized weakness,			
Deficit Area or	impacting her safety with completing safe mobility. Client would benefit			
Problems:	from skilled PT to address mobility, balance, strength and safety education.			

Goals:
1. Patient will ambulate 100ft with rolling walker and supervision by 11/17/22.
2. Patient will complete supine to sitting at edge of bed with modified independence by 10/15/22.

3. Patient will complete home exercise program with independence by 11/17/22.

4. Patient will complete sit<>stand from various surfaces with supervision by 11/18/22.

Plan of Care				
Discharge	SNF vs. Home health pending patient progress			
Recommendations:				
Frequency of	1x daily until transferred to next setting.			
Occupational Therapy:				

## Interventions (CPT Codes): 97162 – PT Evaluation Moderate Complexity

<u>Morgan Adcock, PT</u> Therapist Name: Morgan Adcock, PT

Date and Time: <u>11/13/2022 1245-1320</u>

Occupational Therapy Evaluation				
Patient Name:	Hannah Jones			
Treating Clinician:	Kenneth Czepanksi, MS, OTR/L			
Date of Birth:	03/26/1948			
Date and Time:	11/13/22			
Referring Physician	Dr. Irene Davidson			

### Home Health Occupational Therapy Evaluation

Patient Information and History				
MD Order:	OT evaluation and treatment			
Reason for	Client admitted to hospital for increased shortness of breath and weight			
Referral:	gain due to CHF and COPD exacerbation and fall at home onto her R hip			
	with no acute fractures. Patient discharged from hospital on 11/12/22 to			
	home.			
Primary	Generalized weakness			
Diagnosis:				
Past Medical	HTN, Hypercholesteremia, Bilateral cataract surgery (Nov 2019), Left total			
History:	hip replacement (July 2020)			
Prior Functional	Pt is single, lives in a ranch home with 1 step to enter. Tub shower with			
Status:	grab bars and tub seat. Raised toilet seat. Rollator walker. Use of O2 (2L)			
	at home. Patient mod I with most ADL at home, including bathing and			
	dressing. Patient cooks small meals (mainly microwave), manages			
	medications. Friend drives her for shopping and appointments.			

Patient's	"It is so good to finally be home"
Subjective	
Weight Bearing	FWB BUE and BLE
Status:	
Safety Measures:	n/a
Rehabilitative	Excellent
Prognosis:	
Mental Status/	AXOX4
Cognition:	LTM appears WFL
	STM appears WFL
	Follows 2-3 step direction
	Attention WNL
Vitals:	BP 128/70, O2 97% @ 2L, HR 72, RR 16

Performance Skills and Components:				
Motor & Perceptual Skills:				
Hand Dominance: R handed				
Gross Motor: RUE WFL; LUE WFL				
Fine Motor: WNL				
Bilateral Integration: WFL				
Visual Motor: WFL				
Perceptual: WFL				
UE Sensation: WFL				
Pain: 1/10				
Site: R hip				
Quality of Pain: Sore, tender				

Range of Motion and Manual Muscle Testing						
	Ν	1MT		AROM		PROM
	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left
Shoulder:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Abduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Adduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Internal	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						
-External	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Rotation						

Elbow:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Forearm:						
-Supination:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Pronation:	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Wrist:						
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Ulnar	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Deviation						
-Radial	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Deviation						
Grip	Right	40lbs	Left	35lbs		
Strength:						

Current Levels of Function				
Grooming	Independent up at sink			
UB Bathing	Independent (sponge bathing only at this time)			
LB Bathing	Supervision while sitting on toilet (sponge bathing only at this time)			
UB Dressing	Independent			
LB Dressing	Supervision			
Toileting	Modified Independent			
Toilet Transfer	Modified Independent			
Shower Transfer	Patient notes she has not attempted shower transfer at this time			
Meal Prep	States friend has been bringing meals. Has not attempted meal prep.			
Bed Mobility	Modified Independent			
Ambulation	Modified Independent with rollator			

	Assessment:
Skilled analysis	Patient lives alone in 1 story ranch and was previously independent with all
of safety or	ADL and most IADL. Patient currently demonstrates decreased activity
Deficit Area or	tolerance which impacts her ability to fully participate in her home
Problems:	environment, especially in areas of bathing, meal preparation, and home
	management. Patient to benefit from skilled OT to address ADL and IADL
	retraining, education and compensatory strategies including energy
	conservation and work simplification to increase her safety and
	independence with ADLs and IADLs and to reduce risk of falls at home.

	Goals:
LTG:	1. Patient will safely complete bathing in shower, using DME as needed,
	with modified independence by $11/26/22$ .
-STG:	1a. Patient will perform shower transfer with modified independence by
	11/22/22
LTG:	2. Patient will complete a simple meal in kitchen with modified
	independence, while utilizing learned energy conservation and work
	simplification strategies by 11/26/2022.
-STG:	2a. Patient will verbalize at least 5 energy conservation or work
	simplification strategies to utilize with ADL or IADL by 11/21/22
LTG:	3. Patient will complete simple home management tasks with modified
	independence by 11/26/22.
LTG:	4. Patient will independently complete home exercise program by 11/24/22.

Plan of Care				
Discharge	To self-care at home with assistance as needed from friends.			
Recommendations:				
Frequency of	2x/week for 2 weeks			
Occupational Therapy:				

# Billing:

1 OT Unit

<u>Kenneth Czepanski, MS, OTR/L</u> Therapist Name: Kenneth Czepanski, MS, OTR/L

Date and Time: <u>10/13/2022</u> 10:12AM-11:15AM\_\_\_\_\_

# Home Health

	Physical Therapy Evaluation
Patient Name:	Hannah Jones
Treating Clinician:	Anya Fisher, PT
Date of Birth:	11/13/1948
Date and Time:	1305-1400
Referring Physician	Dr. Irene Davidson

Patient Information and History		
MD Order:	PT evaluation and treatment	

Reason for	Patient admitted to hospital for increased shortness of breath and weight gain
Referral:	due to CHF and COPD exacerbation and fall at home onto her R hip with no
	acute fractures. Patient discharged from hospital on 11/12/22 to home.
Primary	Generalized weakness
Diagnosis:	
Past Medical	HTN, Hypercholesteremia, Bilateral cataract surgery (Nov 2019), Left total
History:	hip replacement (July 2020)
Prior Functional	Pt is single, lives a ranch home with 1 step to enter. Tub shower with grab
Status:	bars and tub seat. Raised toilet seat. Use of cane in home and outside of home.
	Use of O2 (2L) at home. Patient mod I with most ADL at home, including
	bathing and dressing. Patient cooks small meals (mainly microwave),
	manages medications. Friend drives her for shopping and appointments.
Patient's	"I feel shaky and unsteady at times"
Subjective	
Weight Bearing	FWB BUE and BLE
Status:	
Safety Measures:	n/a
Rehabilitative	Excellent
Prognosis:	
Mental Status/	AXOX4
Cognition:	LTM appears WFL
	STM appears WFL
	Follows 2-3 step direction
	Attention WNL
Vitals:	BP 128/70, O2 97% @ 2L, HR 72, RR 16

	Current Levels of Function
Toilet Transfer	Modified Independent
Bed Mobility	Independent
Supine to Sit	Modified Independent with bed rail
Sit to Stand	Modified Independent
Static Sitting	Good+
Dynamic Sitting	Good
Static Standing	Good
Dynamic	Good
Standing	
Ambulation	120 ft with Supervision
level/distance	

Ambulation	Rollator
device	
Comments	Patient requires extra time with transfers and ambulation in the home due to
	decreased endurance.

Range of Motion and Manual Muscle Testing							
	MMT		I	AROM		PROM	
UE	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	
Shoulder:							
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Abduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Adduction	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Internal Rotation	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-External Rotation	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
<b>F</b> 11							
Elbow:	4/5	4.15					
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
Former							
Supination:	1/5	1/5	WEI	WEI	WEI	WEI	
-Supiliation:	4/5	4/3	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
	-, J		WIL	WIL	WIL	WIL	
Wrist:							
-Flexion	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Extension	4/5	4/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
	ľ	MMT	A	AROM		PROM	
LE	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	
Hip:							
-Flexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Extension	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Abduction	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
-Adduction	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	
Knee:							
-Flexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL	

# SIMULATION AND STUDENT ATTITUDES

-Extension	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
Ankle :						
-Dorsiflexion	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
-Plantar	4-/5	4-/5	WFL	WFL	WFL	WFL
flexion						
Comments:						

# **Special Tests:**

**Berg Balance Scale:** 42 - unable to turn 360 in less than 4 seconds and perform tandem/SLS

Pain: 3/10; R upper thigh

Assessment:				
Skilled analysis	Patient presents with generalized weakness and decreased endurance			
of safety or	following recent hospitalization. Mild balance impairment also places			
Deficit Area or	patient at risk of falls in the home. Patient would benefit from skilled PT to			
Problems:	address mobility, balance, strength and safety education.			

	Goals:
LTG 1:	1. Patient will increase SLS to 4 seconds on R/L to decrease risk of falls by
	11/26/22.
STG 1a:	1a. Patient will increased UE MMT to 4+/5 to allow for reaching tasks into
	upper and lower cabinets by 11/19/22.
LTG 2:	2. Patient will demonstrate modified independence with ambulation around
	home with single point cane by 11/26/22.
STG 2a:	2a. Patient will ambulate 100 ft with single point cane and supervision in
	home environment, demonstrating good- balance by 11/22/22.
LTG 3:	3. Patient will be independent with home exercise program by 11/26/22.

Plan of Care	
PT POC	Patient will benefit from therapeutic exercise for LE/UE strengthening; gait
	training and static/dynamic balance education; and education for safety to
	decrease falls risk.
Discharge	Patient may benefit from outpatient PT once no longer homebound. Will
Recommendation	continue to assess.
S	
Frequency of	2x/week x 2 weeks
Physical	
Therapy:	

Interventions (CPT Codes): 1 PT Unit

<u>Anya Fisher, PT</u> **Therapist Name: Anya Fisher, PT** 

Date and Time: <u>11/13/22 1305-1400</u>